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Thursday, December 19, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Good morning.  Any procedural matters to address before we continue?


MR. STEVENS:  Not before we begin this morning, thank you.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right, so we are going to continue with cross-examination of this panel.  Mr. Daube, I think you are up first.

LOWER-CARBON ENERGY IN THE GAS SUPPLY COMMODITY PORTFOLIO (ISSUE 17) - EGI - PANEL 4

Mark Prociw,

Amy Mikhaila,

Stephanie Fife,
Lauren Whitwam; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Mr. Daube


MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Can you hear me all right?  Good morning.  I am proposing to take the panel through four themes today, and all of them focusing on your views on the economic benefits and the effects on economic reconciliation that arise from the RNG proposal and the Indigenous participation framework proposal: (1) your views on the economic benefits from RNG development and the fact that Enbridge does not currently procure from Indigenous sources; (2) your views on how the framework proposal from page 5 of your presentation of yesterday aligns with applicable policy from the Ontario government; (3) Enbridge's views on how the proposal can help to contribute to economic reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples; and (4) Enbridge's understanding of Indigenous interactions in participating in RNG development.


I think it is Angela quarterbacking the documents again today, so thank you.  All of my references will be PDF references.  Can we go to page 3 of the compendium, please, maybe mark it as an exhibit?


MR. MILLAR:  The exhibit is K3.1.

EXHIBIT K3.1: THREE FIRES GROUP / MINOGI COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 4


MR. DAUBE:  You will see, in the highlights section at the very bottom of the page, that Environmental Defence asked you to discuss the benefits of helping to develop RNG projects in Ontario.  Do you see that?  And then, if we turn to the next page, in answer (e) Enbridge stated that there are environmental, economic, and social benefits to the procurement of RNG, which you then summarize in the following page.  Correct?


MS. FIFE:  Correct.


MR. DAUBE:  For the Board's consideration, we can see environmental benefits in the first paragraph, waste management in the second, but, again, what I want to focus on today is economic benefits.  So am I correct that you stated that economic benefits include job creation, local energy production, and economic growth, and then you elaborate on that position?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  Now, if we go to page 9 of the compendium, which is a response to one of my client's interrogatories, you confirm that, at the moment, Enbridge does not procure RNG for any First Nations- or Indigenous-owned RNG producer or supplier.  Is that right?


MS. FIFE:  That is right.


MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Let's talk about Ontario government policy, please.  If we go to page 12 of the compendium, do you recognize this document, entitled "Ontario's Affordable Energy Future"?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  We have excerpts.  Are you generally familiar with the document?


MS. FIFE:  Generally, yes.


MR. DAUBE:  If we go to page 17 of the compendium, we have a couple of paragraphs from the introduction highlighted, if we could scroll down a little bit, please, and we see right away the statement that:

"Ontario needs planning and regulatory frameworks that support building infrastructure and resources quickly and cost effectively and in a way that continues to promote Indigenous leadership and participation in energy projects."


Do you see that?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  And, if we continue to page 22, we see a page mostly or entirely focused on Indigenous leadership and participation.  Right?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  The second bullet among "Other priorities," we see that the continued support for Indigenous ownership -- this is a little bit down, please.  Thank you.  So the second bullet:

"Continued support for Indigenous ownership and participation in energy projects is needed."


And they provide examples of existing vehicles towards that end.  Right?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  So I would like to pause here and just get your views.  Do you agree that the proposed Indigenous discount could help to promote Indigenous ownership and participation in energy projects in Ontario?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  If we go to the third bullet, it says:

"Energy procurements need to incorporate the value of Indigenous leadership and participation by building on existing incentives and engagement requirements."


Do you see that?


MS. FIFE:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  And do you agree that the Indigenous discount proposal could also contribute towards this objective?


MS. FIFE:  I agree that it could, yes.


MR. DAUBE:  Can we go to page 29 of the compendium, please and talk about your views as to whether the proposal supports economic reconciliation more broadly?  I believe you made a statement to this effect yesterday.  Do you agree more generally that these forms of initiatives that we are contemplating and that are set out in the proposal can help to support reconciliation and economic reconciliation, using the definition that is up on the screen here?


MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.


MR. DAUBE:  Just for the record, the definition is, simply defined:

"Economic reconciliation is understood as the inclusion of Indigenous people, communities, and business in all aspects of economic activity."


That is the definition that you are responding to.  Correct?


MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, it is.


MR. DAUBE:  Sorry, I didn't recognize that the speaker had changed.


MS. WHITWAM:  Sorry, Lauren Whitwam.


MR. DAUBE:  Now, yesterday -- can we go to page 35, please.  Or, just before we do, we see that there is a reference to the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada here, and, if we go to page 35 of the compendium, we see that report.  And, Ms. Mikhaila, I believe you referenced this report in your remarks yesterday.  Is that right?


MS. MIKHAILA:  I am not sure if there was a specific reference to the report in my opening remarks, but there might have been general comments that are consistent with it.


MR. DAUBE:  I think you said that the proposal will "further the call to action for reconciliation."


MS. MIKHAILA:  That is right.  I did say that.


MR. DAUBE:  So were you referencing the Calls to Action from this commission or something else?


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is a fair comment.  Thank you.


MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I take it then that, if we go to page 46 and we look at Call to Action No. 92, is this the Call to Action that you were referencing yesterday?


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I believe it is.


MR. DAUBE:  So is Enbridge's position that the Indigenous participation framework proposal is consistent with this call to action?


MS. WHITWAM:  Lauren Whitwam.  Yes, Enbridge's initiative working with the Indigenous nations on this Indigenous advantage would fall into the TRC92.  It is also an initiative for Enbridge with our Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan.  Enbridge recognizes the importance of reconciliation with Indigenous nations and communities, especially within the economic sphere.


MR. DAUBE:  Okay, and we will talk about that, that document, a little bit more in a moment.  Just for further clarity, when we look at Call to Action 92, I assume you are asserting consistency, among other things, with sub-bullet 2, which is to ensure that Aboriginal peoples have equitable access to jobs, training and education programs in the corporate sector, and that Aboriginal communities gain long term sustainable benefits from economic development projects; is that right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  And you referenced, I believe you referenced, the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan, but let's go first to Enbridge's Indigenous Peoples Policy at page 49.  You recognize this document?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. DAUBE:  And I note, I believe, this is Enbridge Inc.  Does it also apply to Enbridge Gas?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, it does.  It is an overarching principle,  policy.

MR. DAUBE:  We see if we go to the next page, please, I take it this -- I mean, obvious point, this pre-exists or predates this proceeding, this document does?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, it does.

MR. DAUBE:  And at page 50, Enbridge states in the second column there that it recognizes the importance of United Nations Declarations on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples in the context of existing --


MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And if we go to page 53, I believe this is the document that you were referencing a moment ago?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, this the Indigenous Reconciliation Action Plan.

MR. DAUBE:  It also applies to Enbridge Gas?

MS. WHITWAM:  It applies to Enbridge Gas, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  If we go to page -- well, let's go to page 55, please.  There is some language here where Enbridge recognizes the Truth and Reconciliation's Call to Action No. 92, as well as United Nations declaration; is that right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And this plan was developed in recognition of those documents?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  So, here is the question:  Do you agree that the Indigenous discount could help to support the objective of ensuring Indigenous access to jobs and training in the energy sector?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, we do.

MR. DAUBE:  And do you also agree that it could also help Indigenous communities to gain long-term, sustainable benefits from the development of RNG in Ontario?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  If we go to page 72, please.  Now that I have turned my binder upside down.  This is Pillar 3 of your plan and it is named, if we scroll down a little bit, Economic Inclusion and Partnerships?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And if we go to -- yes, please.  The first row, just scroll down a little bit, please.  Your identified priorities include efforts to provide opportunities for Indigenous economic participation?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Again, this document predates this proceeding?

MS. WHITWAM:  It does, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Second row, opportunities include participation, Indigenous participation, in Enbridge's supply chain?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And then in the third row they also include Indigenous spend targets in relation to procurement; right?

MS. WHITWAM:  That is correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And my general question is:  Whether you agree with that, the Indigenous participation framework proposal is consistent with these objectives?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, we believe it is.

MR. DAUBE:  And may help Enbridge to advance them; right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  My final chapter is Indigenous interest in RNG.  Can we go to page 90, please.  This is an obvious question as well, you are familiar with the Indigenous Working Group?

MS. WHITWAM:  I am, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And that was established as part of Phase I in this proceeding?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, it was.

MR. DAUBE:  Is it fair to say it has met regularly since its establishment a little bit more than a year ago?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, we met a couple month basis.  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  By my count it regularly included representatives from four First Nations, as well as Six Nations Natural Gas; is that right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, if we go to page 93 of the compendium, we see in the fourth line here that the working group was established with the purpose of providing information, receiving feedback and engaging in discussion about matters of interest to the IWG in relation to Enbridge Gas rates and services; right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And then if we go to page 95, we see that the settlement agreement identified an initial set of areas of focus; right?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And then if we go to page 97, please, we see that an early priority area was opportunities for economic partnership that may result from the energy transition on such matters as the development of renewable natural gas; is that right?

MS. WHITWAM:  That is right.

MR. DAUBE:  So, my question is:  Is it fair to say that themes of reconciliation and economic reconciliation have continued to be priorities that have been raised by Indigenous representatives and discussed with the Indigenous Working Group?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, they have.

MR. DAUBE:  And there have been regular discussion on items such as Indigenous procurement, employment and general Indigenous economic participation?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, regular discussion.

MR. DAUBE:  And just to put the finer point on it, do you agree that these discussions have included and continuing interest on the part of First Nations representative in renewable natural gas and the potential for Indigenous participation in its development?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, I agree.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you, those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Daube.  Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  And good morning, panel.  Just a few questions left to take you through.  Might be useful to pull up Exhibit 4, Tab 2, Schedule 7, just to frame ourselves a bit in discussing the renewable natural gas proposal.  But as we have been discussing this morning and yesterday you have a proposal to procure a certain amount of RNG as part of the gas supply portfolio for 2026.  And I just want to make sure I understand the details of the proposal.  And I suppose we could turn to page 4 in this exhibit, though I think all of this will be well known to you.  So, for the low volume system supply customers the RNG would be part of the overall gas supply; is that right?  It is just fed in through the gas supply and it would be paid as part of the -- go through the QRAM?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, our proposal is that any RNG that we procure that isn't elected by the LCVP participants would be included in the gas supply commodity portfolio.  Our proposal would be to include the cost in the QRAM reference price, so that it would flow through the commodity rates that all customers pay for system supply.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  It is just another source of gas in your overall gas supply?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have proposed certain maximum bill impacts related to that RNG.  And if I have this right, I think it is up to 50 cents per residential customer in 2026 and rising up to up to $4 per month in 2029?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And those are sort of the cost guardrails, if I can put it that way, on the program to make sure that, obviously, RNG at least currently and we would predict into the future will be more expensive than other gas, and these are meant as a cost control mechanism; is that right?

MS. FIFE:  One of the thresholds for the average residential customer, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Okay.  So, Enbridge is also proposing, as Ms. Mikhaila referenced, a low carbon voluntary program that will start in 2027, I believe.  And I take it this is a program under which large volume sales service customers can essentially choose to pay a premium for RNG?  Basically, is that the gist of it?

MS. FIFE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And at this point you don't know how much uptake there may or may not be in that program?

MS. FIFE:  We do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to Staff Interrogatory 32, which is Exhibit I, tab 4, Schedule 2, Staff 32.  And there is a question D there, which references certain cost targets.  And if we turn to the answer to that on page 3, if I could have the next page, please?  There we go.

I am looking at the second paragraph.  So it says:
"The maximum bill impact of $8 per month..."

And just to pause for a moment:  That had been Enbridge's original proposal, but the current proposal is $4 per month.  Is that right?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.  I believe if you scroll down, you will see the updated entries.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed.  Okay.  And, thank you.  I find it a little bit [audio dropout] this paragraph, but that is why the $8 and the $4 don't match.  But if I could continue:
"The maximum bill impact of $8 per month for the average residential customer in 2029 assumes no LCBP participation.  As discussed in a different exhibit, Enbridge expects participation in the LCBP program from large volume customers beginning in 2027, limiting the potential bill impact for all other sales-service customers in subsequent years."

So you see that?

MS. FIFE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it what that means is you have taken a conservative approach to forecasting bill impacts on residential customers.  In other words, you have assumed there will be -- in coming up these with these numbers, you have assumed no LCBP participation?

MS. FIFE:  I would agree that we took a conservative approach to understand the maximum billing impact, and limit that bill impact.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And to the extent there is uptake in LCBP, that would reduce that overall bill impact to residential customers.  Do I have that correct?

MS. FIFE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now let's imagine, and I have no insight into where the Board may go on this, but if the Board is of the view that $4 a month is a little bit high, that it is uncomfortable with that, whether it is $4 or $3 or $8 or what have you, that it feels that there should be further guardrails established in respect of the bill impact per month, could this be addressed by tying increases in the percentage of RNG gas you procure with uptake of the LCBP program?

And just to play that out a little bit more, what I am thinking of is you would be permitted to perhaps increase volumes, but only to the extent you were able to offset the bill impacts from that through the LCBP program.

Is that something you have considered, or does that make any sense to you?

MS. FIFE:  Can we confer for moment, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  That is an alternative that could be considered where, for example, depending on the uptake in the LCBP program, there might be some level above that that would be acceptable for inclusion in the sale-service supply if the 2 percent is too high of an amount, and uncomfortable.  For example, it could be one percent; it could be LCBP plus one percent.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Or there is probably a lot of different combinations, depending on the comfort level, that could be put in place for the program.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know that is not your proposal, and I am not trying to make that your proposal.  But to the extent the Board were interested in something like that, are there operational challenges associated with that type of approach?

I know nothing is simple when it comes to gas procurement, but is that something that could be accommodated if the Board had an interest in that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't see that being a challenge that we couldn't overcome, if there was something other than a target percentage, if there was LCBP uptake plus something in the supply portfolio.

I think the inclusion of the gas supply commodity portfolio is because of the -- we have to procure, we have to understand the price before we can offer it to large-volume sales-service customers, so they will be able to understand what price they will pay for the RNG, so a little bit of chicken and egg.

We have to have something procured at a price that we can then pass that price along to LCBP to understand their interest.  And so the inclusion in the supply portfolio is for that cost recovery certainty for the utility.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is very helpful, thank you.

Could I ask you to turn to, I think it is Environmental Defence interrogatory 46, so that is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 2, ED-46?  And if you look at question F there, Mr. Elson asked you about the maximum contract length that Enbridge would consider.  And if we flip to the answer, which is on the next page, essentially you say the length will be determined during the RNG procurement process, and it will be one factor that is considered.

But I take it from that -- well, maybe I should ask the question this way:  Is there a maximum length on the term of the contracts?

MS. FIFE:  We haven't identified a maximum length.  We do know that most of the contracts in the market right now are between 10 and 15 years.  We also know that other utilities such as Fortis and Énergir are signing 20-year contracts.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I saw a reference to a 20-year contract.

So is that as long as these things can get?

MS. FIFE:  That is as long as we have seen in the market, that a contract for RNG would depend on a number of things.  One of them is the expected production length of the facility, so that could play into it.

The 20-year contracts are for certainty of the producer, so they are underpinning the projects.  And that is what the market is asking for in some cases, but we are seeing a variety of contracts.  And we would endeavour to get a diversified portfolio of contracts.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So from Enbridge's point of view, yes, again, just like you do on your regular gas contracts, and there is a variety of term lengths.

Do you see a contract ever being longer than 20 years?

MS. FIFE:  I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if the Board -- of course, we recognize the give and take on these negotiations, and how the people getting set up, in particular, need longer term contracts to underpin the costs and whatnot.

So there would be no need for -- the Board should never be concerned about something longer than 20 years.  And do you have any thoughts on, if the Board limited the terms to 10 or 15 years or something like that, what is your view on that?

MS. FIFE:  We would work within what the Board decision is.  The longer term contracts as we just discussed are typically for newer projects.  We have seen shorter contracts for existing projects that may have new supply coming online.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I take it your view is you will work with whatever the Board decides, but you prefer to have the flexibility up to 20 years?

MS. FIFE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Okay, I think I just have one more area, and it relates to unit cost for RNG.  There was bit of a discussion about this with my colleague, Mr. Parkes, who is beside me today.  I am wondering if we could have the technical conference transcript pulled up?  And it is volume 2.  That is the technical conference transcript, volume 2, around page 161.

MS. MONFORTON:  Sorry, I will just be one moment with that one.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I am sorry, Ms. Monforton, I should have given you a heads-up on this.  And again, I don't even know if we will have to refer to it; I think this is helpful, here, because that is where it was discussed before.  So I can probably start my questioning; if we need reference to the transcript, that is fine.  Thank you, so much.  Again, it was page 161, and I don't think that is the PDF number, but the number at the top.  So it will be 11 pages past that.

In any event, there was some discussion yesterday about the concept of a price cap on the price paid for RNG by Enbridge.  And there was a discussion, well, maybe $25.50 per gigajoule, something like that.  But Enbridge was resistant to the idea of having that as a cap or, indeed, any cap that it might pay per gigajoule for RNG.  Is that correct?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.  We see a cap on the per gigajoule price of RNG would limit our ability to negotiate in the market.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So let's tease that out a little bit more.  If we look at the transcript and again, I can kind of repeat the question here.  But one of the things that was said in that transcript was, well, we have thrown out the idea of a cap.  And one of the things that was referenced was it might negatively impact your competitive position.

Do you recall that discussion, or have you reviewed that discussion?

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Millar, I am sorry to interrupt.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  It looks like it is a different topic at page 161 of transcript 2, at least from what is showing on the screen.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I am sorry.  Maybe we could scroll down a little bit.  And there is Mr. Parkes, beginning there.  Maybe we can turn to the next page, which is page 162.  And it was a discussion with Ms. Fife.  And you will see at the bottom, around line 23, she says:
"So we consider the maximum price we would pay per gigajoule to be commercially sensitive."

And I just had a couple questions about that.  So do you recall that discussion?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And maybe we could play that out a little bit more.  I take it what the concern is -- and you can tell me if I am wrong -- is that, if people know the maximum price you are able to pay, then that gives them a leg up in the negotiations?

MS. FIFE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that, I assume, would be particularly true it there are fewer market participants, in the sense that it is only a competitive advantage -- if you have a lot of people who produce RNG, maybe it is less of a concern than if there are just a few.  Is that fair, or does that concern apply no natter what?

MS. FIFE:  I think the concern applies no matter what.  That could be a fair comment, but we have not been in the market [audio dropout].

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I see that that is at least a theoretical concern, and I can understand why that would be something you would raise.  In terms of a solution to, and I think what we are -- the way the Board Staff approaches this and perhaps some of the other intervenors is just in the idea of having guardrails an overall cost and just to make sure you are not stuck with where you need X percentage of RNG but the price is so astronomical it just doesn't make sense, and we don't want to see you get funneled into that position, although I recognize there are other guardrails in terms of global price impact et cetera, but that is kind of the lens through which we are approaching this discussion.

So we appreciate if you have a single cap on price.  Well, maybe that doesn't assist you in the negotiations.  As an alternative, what about something like a weighted average cap?  The way I would suggest that is:  Let's just take $36 per gigajoule as an example, whereby you are not limited in any single contract but, over the term, an annual period or two years or what have you, your average cannot exceed a certain cap.  How does that idea sound?

MS. FIFE:  Can we confer for a moment?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. FIFE:  Thank you.  Working within a weighted average, which is similar to what our proposal is, would be easier for us to procure appropriate amounts of RNG.  Some would be more expensive than that cap, some would be less, and we would work within a weighted average.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so you are open to that as a concept.  I take it that is a preferable than a hard cap on [audio dropout] per contract?

MS. FIFE:  Yes.  We wouldn't want to eliminate certain suppliers that may have higher production costs for whatever reason.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Commissioner Sword, do you have any questions?
Questions by the Board


COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Yes, thank you.  You indicated there was excitement from customers on the RNG program.  What are the producers telling you, and what has your interaction with them been like?

MS. FIFE:  Producers are interested in Enbridge Gas getting into the market.  We have had conversations with producers.  Obviously, we can't procure right now, so those are limited with trying to understand the market and what they have available, but we have had conversations, and they are looking for us to get into the market.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  Enbridge spans Ontario.  Are these producers geographically concentrated in an area, or is there RNG opportunity throughout the province?

MS. FIFE:  I would say throughout the province.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Where would be the point of injection into the system?  You have got many points of entry.  Where would that be in terms of not specific but generally speaking and in particular perhaps for locations that get to feed off the TransCanada route?

MS. MIKHAILA:  For local production, we would look for the closest economically available site to inject into our system.  If it were off, like in our Union north rate zone that is fed off of TransCanada, it would have to be an amount that the local distribution area could consume in the lowest demand kind of time periods.  And that is something that we work with producers on, even today, who want to inject, and we give them the capacity of our system at different times throughout the year and work with them on the injection site.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  I would imagine there are different pricing points according to what the source of the RNG would be, correct, landfill versus dairy farm, things like that?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.  That is one of the factors that goes into price.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sure.  It was touched about in other hearings; I realize that.  But what is the Ontario supply overall like in terms of what the capacity might be for procuring it with just Ontario sources?

MS. FIFE:  So, the supply estimate that we have right now is approximately 5 PJs in 2025, rising to 16 PJs in 2029, and our sources for that were conversations with producers found in attachment 3 as well as other market reports, including the CGA.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Mm-hmm.  What I was sort of getting at was:  Is there a large potential just in terms of, once you have got a market established, more sources become available for it?

MS. FIFE:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  Thank you.  In terms of the Indigenous community, Indigenous community involving that, I understand this took place at the Indigenous Working Group as was mentioned?

MS. WHITWAM:  I am sorry the --

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  The --

MS. WHITWAM:  -- [audio dropout] advantage?

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  No, the RNG proposal was discussed at the Indigenous Working Group?

MS. WHITWAM:  No, this was discussed between Enbridge and Minogi/Three Fires Group.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  What about other First Nations in terms of their interest and involvement in it?

MS. WHITWAM:  We are aware that a lot of Indigenous communities, First Nations communities, are interested in different types of equity partnerships, which they would do with the producers.  We are aware of a project in northern Ontario, that CHAR Technologies is partnering with four Indigenous nations on a woody biomass that would convert to RNG, so there is an interest in the field.  With CHAR though, however, the Energy Futures Group proposal would eliminate -- from what I understand, likely cause exclusions in the program.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  That is all, Commissioner Moran.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Commissioner Zlahtic?  Commissioner Duff?

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Just one follow-up from Commissioner Sword:  This proposal which you have brought before the OEB, you did not discuss this with the Indigenous Working Group?

MS. WHITWAM:  Minogi and Three Fires Group are members of the Indigenous Working Group, so it was discussed with them.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  But you didn't discuss it at the Indigenous Working Group meeting, with all of the participants?

MS. WHITWAM:  Not at the meeting, no.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  "The meeting"?

MS. WHITWAM:  At "a meeting," sorry.  We have only had one since the proposal, since we have started into this process.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Commissioner Elsayed?

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Just a couple of follow-up questions on, again, the Indigenous participation:  The 10-percent discount that you are proposing, is that at each component level, is that a program level, or how does that apply?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The way we consider including that would be at the RFP-evaluation stage.  So, when we are looking at the price that an Indigenous-owned business has submitted for an RFP, we would discount that price by 10 percent when we are considering price through the RFP evaluation.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Okay, so you would do it at the stage of evaluating a proposal; you apply a discount?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  What is the basis of the 5 percent cap that you are applying to this?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It was through the discussions with Minogi Corp. and Three Fires Group as a level of participation that was something that they were interested in or recognized could be a participation level.  And, at a 10-percent discount and a 5 percent participation, both of those things at the maximum, the impact to the portfolio was 0.5 percent increase in the cost, which is a small amount compared to the cost of the portfolio, itself; it has had a 0.5 percent impact.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  So there is no provision for flexibility in that cap depending on the circumstances or the performance or anything of that sort?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The agreement as put out on the slide, there is an indication there that prior performance would be a consideration in the evaluation of future bids.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  And what type of work actually did you expect in this program, the Indigenous groups to be doing?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sir, I am just having a little trouble hearing you.  I don't know if you --


COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Sorry, the type of work that the Indigenous group would be doing within the program.


MS. WHITWAM:  So, this would be the procurement of the RNG, so the Indigenous Nation and communities would be working with the producer to develop and to build the facilities however they enter into their partnership.  So, Enbridge Gas would not be asking them to do anything other than just to participate in the program.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  These were my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Commissioner Zlahtic.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I'm scared to ask questions because my mic never seems to work.  Just following up on a line of questioning that Commissioner Elsayed had, and if this is on the record I apologize.  What participation level would an Indigenous group have to have in an RNG project to be qualified for Indigenous consideration and the discount?  Is there a percentage threshold?  Is it 100 percent?  Is it...

MS. WHITWAM:  Our proposal -- and I don't know if we can pull it up -- 25 percent ownership.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Oh, it is on the record.  I am sorry.

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, sorry.  It is on our slides.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, I apologize.

MS. WHITWAM:  No problem.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, I have some questions.  As things currently stand we have, as I understand it, two groups of customers connected to your system.  There is a group of customers who contract directly with suppliers for their gas, so those are direct purchase customers.  And then the rest of the customers are supply system gas that is procured directly by Enbridge on pass through cost basis?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  And so, and those direct purchasers are generally large volume purchasers?

MR. PROCIW:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  At one point everybody had the ability to contract for direct purchase, but on the small volume side that has pretty much fallen off, hasn't it?

MR. PROCIW:  What we see on the large volume contract side is about 90 percent of the contract rate customers are DP, or direct purchase.  But when you are looking at the mass market or general service, a non-contract rate, you tend to see around 90, 95 percent are actually on system gas.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  As things currently stand there are some RNG producers who are connected to the Enbridge Gas system but you are not procuring their gas; right?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, they have entered into arrangements that, directly with other customers or maybe they are using that gas themselves, but you are just charging them for transportation?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  Other than, I will just make one small caveat, the very small quantities of RNG that we have been purchasing under the voluntary RNG program we have.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  For the pilot project; right?  So, there is a couple of landfill operations, for example, that are connected but they just have a transportation contract.  Who is actually buying that gas you may or may not know.  So, but currently you are not procuring any of that gas other than the small amount for the pilot program?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Good.  Now, one of the advantages that renewable natural gas has is it is the attribute that can be applied against decarbonization objectives; right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And then the other attribute that it has is the one that all gas has which is it has heat value?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So, I just want to clarify something that I heard yesterday that there is some other attributes besides those two.  I am trying to understand what those might be and so...

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I can speak to the other attributes as I mention there are a number of different attributes.  Within the Clean Fuel Regulation Program producing RNG is eligible to create a clean fuel regulation credit.  Other activities, such as EV charging, can also create clean fuel regulation credits.  So, these credits, they can only be used within the Clean Fuel Regulation Program and these clean fuel regulation credits do not entitle an emission reduction in onsite facility emission reduction.  So, they are a separate and distinct attribute from that ability from that RNG, let's say attribute, the attribute of being renewable biomass-based energy.  So, that is the example of one type of credit and it is a different environmental attribute, it is different and distinct and separate from the RNG itself.  It is just because RNG is eligible to create that credit it can do so and that is why it is separate.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  You will agree that a molecule of renewable natural gas can only be burned once; right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And it can only have its decarbonization impact once because it has been burnt and can't be used again; right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Only one customer can use that molecule.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And the clean fuel energy credits are built on the fact, on that decarbonization component, of the RNG; correct?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Clean fuel regulation credit represents a compliance instrument, and it represents a lowering of the carbon intensity.  So the Clean Fuel Regulation Program, the objective of that program, is to lower the carbon intensity of liquid fuels.  So, it is just an eligible activity to create those credits, so it does not provide any type of direct emission reduction benefit.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  It provides an offset to the fuels that are being burned that have a carbon impact; right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I would describe it as a compliance instrument that establishes the obligated parties within the Clean Fuel Regulation Program and those would be the liquid fuel producers that it establishes their compliance.  So, it satisfies their obligation for compliance and there are a number of different ways of creating credits, as I made an example, EV charging creates a credit and it would then also be a compliance instrument that satisfies their program.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  But that has nothing to do with renewable gas?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Correct.  But I would just wanted to show that there are multiple ways of creating these fuel regulation credits that also do not entitle the owner of those clean fuel regulation credits to make a claim towards a direct end use mitigation reduction.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  Because they are using to the offset the carbon content of the fuel that has limits on it that they have to meet; right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Like I said, RNG is outside of the liquid fuel supply chain, and so it is just an eligible activity to create -- it is an instrument that allows them to confirm they are met their compliance obligation.  So, really the obligation is lowering the carbon intensity of liquid fuels and this is an activity that is outside of that supply chain that is eligible to create compliance.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I understand that it is outside all of that.  But what I am trying to get at is the fact it qualifies in the first place as a credit is because of the decarbonization attribute that it brings; is that not correct?  That is the only reason why it qualifies is because it is -- it has a decarbonization attribute to it.  Otherwise it wouldn't be useful, would it?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Yes.  It does deliver a lowering of GHGs.  It does lower emissions because it is a renewable fuel.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So, if GHGs emissions are lowered as a result of a clean fuel credit they can't be used to lower GH gas emissions somewhere else because, as we just agreed, you can only burn one of those molecules once and they only can give their decarbonization attribute once; right?  That is the logic; isn't that correct?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I don't want to appear to be pedantic.  I would say the program, as I went to before, the program has multitudes of ways of creating compliance.  RNG and its ability to create clean fuel regulation credit is one way of creating compliance.  The end user of the RNG that is actually burning the molecule, they make the claim around the emission reduction, the direct end use emission reduction.  The CFR attribute is separate and it does not represent a direct end use emission reduction.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  The CFR credit has monetary value?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  And the RNG that delivers that monetary value is reflected in the price of the RNG, isn't it?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  It may not be included in the price of the RNG.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  So the decarbonization, the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions delivered by an RNG-based CFR credit, is a separate decarbonization delivery than the one that the end user is going to have?  In other words, from one molecule, we can get two decarbonization results, physically?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  What the CFR credit represents is a lowering of the carbon intensity of fuel; that is the objective of the clean fuel regulation credit --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  -- of the Clean Fuel Regulation Program.  It is actually considered to be incremental, and delivering additional GHG reductions through the delivery of that program.  But again, the objective of the Clean Fuel Regulation Program is to lower the carbon intensity of liquid fuels.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Which is a different and separate supply chain from RNG.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.  Because, when that liquid fuel is burned, the credit offsets the greenhouse gas emissions from burning that fuel.  That is the logic.  Right?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  When RNG is burned by the end user, the CO2 that would have been released, because it is biogenic, is not considered a net contribution to the atmosphere because it is derived from biomass.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I wasn't asking about when the RNG fuel is burned; when the liquid fuel is burned, it releases greenhouse gases, and that has been offset by the clean fuel credit that was generated by the RNG-based credit.  Right?

My question comes down to, I don't understand how we can offset greenhouse gas emissions in two different places with one molecule of renewable natural gas.  That is what I am asking.  How is that possible?

MS. FIFE:  So I would have framed it just slightly different, where clean fuel regulation credits are issued to those who exceed the clean fuel regulation targets.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  So you have exceeded the targets; here is a credit.  You can monetize those credits and sell them to people who may not have.  So, in Ms. Carriveau's example, liquid producers who may not have exceeded those targets can then purchase those and apply them to their targets, if that helps.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  So you are going to procure renewable natural gas at a premium because, when the end user burns that gas, there is a -- that premium represents a greenhouse gas emission reduction.  Right?  And the producer at the same time can sell a credit generated under the CFR regime to do the same thing.

And I am trying to understand how you can get greenhouse gas emissions twice from the same -- from one molecule of RNG.  That is what I am struggling with here, to understand.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I think maybe the characterization of the clean fuel regulation credit, that is a reduction of carbon intensity.  It is not the same thing as an end-use GHG emission, because the carbon intensity represents the entire life cycle.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  But it is all about reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  So again, I am just trying to understand how you can reduce [audio dropout] twice, with one molecule of RNG.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  The Clean Fuel Regulation Program is intended to be stackable, because they have different objectives than GHG reporting programs, inventory programs, such as the emission performance standard programs; they are intended to be complementary to each other.  And the federal government does consider the CFR program, which is intended on lowering carbon intensity of liquid fuels, to be incremental to other GHG regulating policies, which are based on end-use emissions, whereas the clean fuel regulation has the different and distinct objective of lowering carbon intensities of liquid fuels.

MR. STEVENS:  Would it be helpful, Commissioner Moran, for us to take this away and provide an answer in writing?  I understand the concern, that it feels almost like double-counting here, that there is credit being given for avoided emissions through the RNG, and then there is also a parent environmental credit of some sort that appears to be emissions related for the CFR credits.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Which in fact does reduce greenhouse gas emissions, because it reduces the carbon intensity of something that is getting burned.  Right?  It is just physics; that is all I am talking about here.  I understand that there is that program.

So anything you want to put in writing in an undertaking to address how greenhouse gas emissions can be reduced in two different ways by one molecule, I am happy to accommodate that.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Mr. Stevens, that is a great idea.  And, if I can jump in:  What might also be helpful is an example, you know, for example, with an industrial customer.  And a realistic example, if you can, I think would we helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Well, we would be happy to take that away.  Just to make sure that I capture it so that sometimes, when we have pages of transcript, we don't answer the question intended.  Perhaps I can try it on, and you can tell me if I am on the right track or not.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge Gas will provide further explanation as to the environmental attributes that can be achieved through the acquisition and use of RNG, both in terms of emissions reduction and in terms of CFR credits, and explain how these are not inconsistent.  And we will provide an illustrative example.

Does that capture the concern?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I think so, yes.  How many ways can the decarbonization attribute be used to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, I think is the fundamental question.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  So we will add that clarification on to the end of the undertaking, Commissioner Moran.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J3.1.
UNDERTAKING J3.1: ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE FURTHER EXPLANATION AS TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL AND DECARBONIZATION ATTRIBUTES THAT CAN BE ACHIEVED THROUGH THE ACQUISITION AND USE OF RNG, BOTH IN TERMS OF EMISSIONS REDUCTION AND IN TERMS OF CFR CREDITS, EXPLAIN HOW THESE ARE NOT INCONSISTENT, AND TO PROVIDE AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE; OR, TO DESCRIBE HOW MANY WAYS THE DECARBONIZATION ATTRIBUTE CAN BE USED TO REDUCE GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS.


MR. DAUBE:  Mr. Moran, may I -- and sorry, I don't mean to interrupt.  I was about to offer some clarity on some of the concerns that Commissioner Duff was raising regarding --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I am not finished, but if you -- or sorry, address [audio dropout] in a minute.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thanks.  We talked about the CFR regime.  In Ontario, we also have the output-based pricing system, EPS, which also is looking at RNG as a source of credits to offset exceedances of emissions in that context.

So I guess the question is the same there:  If the EPS program, the Ontario large industrial-emitter greenhouse gas reduction program, is using RNG as well as a way of reducing exceedances of emissions, how does that RNG then play out in your system?  Again, the same question:  Can the same molecule of RNG deliver in three places, now?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I can speak to that.  I think it is important to note that the emission performance standard program calculation of GHGs is based on an end-use basis.  And the receipt of RNG, the CO2 associated with the combustion of that RNG, is not included towards GHG emissions that would be reported.  So volumes of RNG, the CO2 related to its combustion, are subtracted from the overall GHGs.

I think, really, the Clean Fuel Regulation Program was intended to be complementary to other programs, so there are no regulatory prohibitions.  And both programs recognize -- have different objectives because the emission performance standard program is aimed at lowering or regulating direct, end-use emissions.  And the objective of the Clean Fuel Regulation Program has a different objective, lowering the carbon intensity.

Both those programs, recognition in both those programs was, I believe, by design.  And they are not exclusionary to each other.  The CFR has no restrictions around participation in other programs, nor does the Emissions Performance Standards program, and they are seeking two different objectives.

I am trying to go back to my original train of thought here.  So I think, by design, they are intended -- they have different objectives, and that is why they can be recognized in both programs and are complementary to each other.

And we do see this in other jurisdictions.  We do see that mandates for certain a blend percentage of renewable natural gas can coexist with credit programs, such as the low-carbon fuel standard program.  So, those things, you can use RNG to meet a blends mandate and you can use RNG to create CFR credits, and so, where the programs allow both activities to occur, that is why they can be achieved, because these regulated government programs allow them to do so and provide recognition over those activities.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  But you are not saying that the same volume, the actual physical volume, of renewable natural gas can be used in both places.  I understand that you can use RNG in those two programs, but a particular volume can't be used in both programs at the same time, or are you saying that it can?

MS. CARRIVEAU:  I am saying they are recognized in both programs.  So one program might be recognizing renewable content.  We see this in the U.S.  They have a renewable-fuel standard which creates renewable identification numbers, and they have a State, California, low-carbon fuel standard which creates low-carbon fuel credits.  Both those programs exist because they have different objectives.  The objective of a renewable-fuel standard is to recognize renewable fuel; the objective of a clean-fuel regulation credit is to lower the carbon intensity.  So we do see multiple credits because those programs are designed and are not exclusionary to each other.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So again maybe by way of undertaking, can you provide an example where you can get multiple credits for the same volume of RNG?  So, if I have a cubic metre of RNG, I can create a CFR credit, I can create a blend credit, I can create a EPS credit, with the same volume; if you can find an example of that, that would be helpful.

MS. CARRIVEAU:  Yes, we can.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J3.2.
UNDERTAKING J3.2:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE AN EXAMPLE OF MULTIPLE CREDITS FOR THE SAME VOLUME OF RNG.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Now, there are many ways, of course, to achieve greenhouse-gas reductions within the Enbridge system.  Renewable natural gas may be a way to do that.  You are making a proposal that is suggesting that we can get up to about 2 percent in the system.  You will agree that that is not a lot.  Correct?

MS. FIFE:  The percentage is small.  We think that the volume is a good size, though, the 10.5 PJs.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  And then there are other programs.  There are demand-side management programs that also reduce, directly reduce, the consumption of natural gas in order to achieve reductions in greenhouse-gas emissions and efficiencies and so on.  Correct?

MS. FIFE:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.  Now, which one gives you the bigger bang for the buck?  You are talking about a $2-maximum hit on a customer bill as a backstop.  The current DSM program is targeting at around $2-a-month impact, as well.

If you were to take the savings from, for example, the last sort of reported program year, 2023 I believe, on a volume-for-volume basis, which one is going to deliver the bigger bang for the buck for decarbonization?  And maybe you can take that away as an undertaking.

MR. STEVENS:  I think probably a number of people would contribute to that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, I would expect so.  Yes.  So with numbers so that we can see the relative advantage of the two programs.

MR. STEVENS:  We will provide that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J3.3.
UNDERTAKING J3.3: USING 2023 DATA, ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A BANG-FOR-THE-BUCK DECARBONIZATION COMPARISON WITH OTHER PROGRAMS THAT REDUCE THE CONSUMPTION OF NATURAL GAS TO REDUCE GHG EMISSIONS, AND EFFICIENCIES, SHOWING THE RELATIVE ADVANTAGE OF THE PROGRAMS.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, when you go to procure your gas for system supply, you are participating in a competitive market.  Right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we are.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And so, when you go for renewable natural gas, that will be part of that market, I guess.  And so there are not a lot of producers at the moment; applying sort of usual demand/supply economics, if there is a large demand and a small supply, that competitive market is going to deliver a higher price.  Right?

MS. FIFE:  The price of RNG is dependent on several factors.  One is the production cost, and two is the market.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  And the market part is of course all this premium that is based on its attribute to reduce carbon, right, carbon emissions?

MS. FIFE:  I would agree with that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, and so that is what is going to make the price probably go up.  If there is a small supply and a large demand, for example, people are competing to get it for CFR credits or EPS credits or what have you, that market is going to be responsive to that demand, right, and, if it is a restricted supply, typically you expect the price to be higher, as well?  Right?

MS. FIFE:  I think the market is one of the factors.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  But the price will go up if there is a tight demand and, sorry, high demand for a tight supply.  Right?  That is typically how a market works.

MS. FIFE:  Basic economics, yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, thank you.  All right.  Is there any reason why -- you are going to start by offering this to large-volume customers, and we already heard that 90-plus percent of large-volume customers are direct-purchase customers anyway.  Is there any reason why you just can't let the large-volume customers continue to procure their own gas, including renewable natural gas?

Like, why does Enbridge have to get in the middle?  You are not in the middle of the normal direct purchase contract, so why do you have to get in the middle of this one?

MR. PROCIW:  From what we have heard from our system gas large-volume users, they would like to have the option, the choice, to be available to them in order to participate in a program that helps them to decarbonize.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right, and so there is a market and they have that choice.  What stops them from going out to that market?  Why do they need to rely on you to go to that market and then sell to them when they can just go directly to the market like they already do?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The only thing I would like to add is the 90 percent that was referenced earlier is our contract customers.  The program as we proposed it also includes a large-volume general service, which is largely sales service, so it is not the 90 percent direct purchase, entirely, of the program.  So I just wanted to clarify that because the large-volume general service is a large component of it.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right, and they have the ability to engage in direct purchase, right, and, in fact, some of them do, as well.  Right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  They do have that choice, and some of them don't want to work with a direct-purchase marketer or whatever; they want to work with us as the utility.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So the only reason for you to get involved is that they just -- they are large-volume consumers, but they don't want to engage in the market that they buy from; they want to go through you instead?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is what we are hearing from them.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And that is the justification for this program?

MR. PROCIW:  Correct.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Maybe I could add to that that it is not the only justification for the program, but we have heard that interest from customers.  But it has been acknowledged by both the provincial and federal governments that lower-carbon fuels will enable the energy system's path to net zero.  And so the RNG, in all projections of how energy transition will carry out, is a component of that, and so the ability for us to get into the market, to start offering that as part our supply, is us recognizing that RNG does have a role in the energy future, as is acknowledged by government, federal and provincial government, reports on the matter.

And proving a small target percentage of RNG as part of our gas supply portfolio at an incremental cost can be akin to a variety of sources and range of costs of energy that make up the portfolio for electricity in the province, as well.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  I have a couple of questions on the Indigenous advantage.  I am just trying to make sure I understand it clearly.  So, on the procurement side, when you are going to procure renewable natural gas, as I understand it, when you are evaluating proposals from a range of producers, if a producer has an Indigenous partner they have an advantage.  Just help me understand how that works financially.


MS. MIKHAILA:  How it would play out is we would accept all of the RFP bids into a public RFP that we would put out.  And if an Indigenous-owned business is part of one of the participants in that RFP process, the price that they would bid in would be discounted by 10 percent for the evaluation of the RFP, although ultimately the price that we pay would be the amount that they had bid, but for purposes of evaluating the RNG bid we would provide that 10 percent discount advantage in the evaluation stage.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So it is a procurement evaluation discount, not a financial discount?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  If you accept the proposal, because it meets the other criteria along with that reduction, they are still going to get the full price that is in the contract?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  The backstop if you don't sell this on to large volume customers, system gas customers have to pick up the cost of that; right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, as I mentioned earlier, of the maximum 10 percent discount advantage, which may not be the maximum in the evaluation, but that is the maximum for purposes of evaluating.  And the total portfolio 5 percent would be a 0.5 percent increase in the cost of RNG on a portfolio basis.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  Is there any discount for Indigenous businesses purchasing RNG?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  In your proposal.

MS. MIKHAILA:  We don't have any proposal like that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I just, again, I just wanted to be clear what the proposal was.  Okay.  So, final -- regardless of the Indigenous discount, you are paying the contract price of all the successful bidders.  If the program to offer it to large volume customers doesn't work out because they don't want to pay the extra price for that, then the system gas users have to pay for the procured gas; right?  On a pass through basis up to the maximum of, I guess, over time $4 per month?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Mr. Daube, you indicated you wanted to say something?

MR. DAUBE:  Yes, my apologies for misreading the pause.  I was just going to offer to speak to some of the concerns that I believe Commissioner Duff was raising about the timing and nature of discussions with the Indigenous Working Group.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Well, do you have a question for the witness panel?

MR. DAUBE:  Well...

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  Are you going to provide information?  I don't know what you are proposing.

MR. DAUBE:  Well, I can speak to -- what I can speak to is the timing of the agreement on the proposal that you have before you as against the timing of the last meeting of the Indigenous Working Group.

COMMISSIONER DUFF:  I don't need that information.  Thank you.  You are free to put something in submission if you want; right?  That would be the appropriate vehicle.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Commissioner Elsayed, I believe you have a follow-up question?

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Yes, just a clarifying question about the comment made about the Indigenous-owned businesses.  What does that mean?  100 percent?  90 percent?  Is there a definition of what an Indigenous-owned business means?

MS. WHITWAM:  Yes, so on within our opening statement evidence an Indigenous business is a -- according to the proposal is a 25 percent owned Indigenous or a business that is put forward by an Indigenous.  So, the 25 percent is the threshold for an Indigenous business.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  If it is 25 percent owned it is considered, according to your definition, the criteria as an Indigenous business?

MS. WHITWAM:  For this proposal, that is the percentage, 25 percent.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  And then the 5 percent, the 10 percent applies in this case to that entity?

MS. WHITWAM:  The 5 percent?

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Discount.

MS. WHITWAM:  Can we just confer?

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. MIKHAILA:  Maybe it would be helpful to pull up K2.5, the open statement slides, because the exact wording of the proposal is included in those slides.  Sorry, can you please go down.  And one more.  The definition in the middle of the last bulleted section there says for clarity qualifying Indigenous-owned businesses, so the definition is included in that which is equivalent participation of 25 percent or more, or put forward by two Enbridge Gas by an Indigenous community in Ontario.  And then, should a business meet that definition of Indigenous owned, then we would apply the 10 percent discount in the RFP evaluation.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Up to 5 percent?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Up to 5 percent of our total RNG, yes.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, any redirect?

MR. STEVENS:  No, I have no questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Then the panel thanks the witnesses for their assistance and you are excused.  We will take a break.  We will be back at 11:05.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:09 a.m.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, I understand there is a procedural matter you want to address?
Procedural Matters


MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  Thank you, very much.  I mentioned yesterday that the parties may have a proposal that is different from what was in a recent procedural order in terms of timing and order for our submissions.  And this is driven by the revenue decoupling issue and the fact that details of it are to come from Environmental Defence and Green Energy Coalition, who are the proponents of that proposal.

And, by saying that, I am not getting into argument which is [audio dropout] had about onus, but rather just recognize the realities of it.

So, with that in mind, we have a slightly nuanced proposal for submissions.  I believe that my friend Mr. Elson does not oppose this approach.  Some of the other parties who are here I believe also are okay with the approach.  But once I have laid this out, others may have comments; I don't present it on behalf of everybody.

So with that long windup, here is our suggestion:  So, as the first step, on January 27, Environmental Defence/GEC would provide submissions on revenue decoupling.  Following that, on February 6, Enbridge Gas would provide argument in chief on all issues.

Subsequently, on February 18, intervenors and staff would provide their submissions on all issues.  ED/GEC would also provide submissions at that point on the two non-revenue decoupling issues.

And then finally, on March 6, both Enbridge Gas would provide reply on all issues and ED/GEC on that same day would provide reply on the revenue decoupling issue.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Any comments from any other parties at this time?

MR. ELSON:  One quick comment, Mr. Chair.  We are happy to accommodate and so, like Mr. Stevens said, we do not oppose.  You will note in what was suggested that we would have an opportunity to reply on March 6, and that was something that we had suggested because we wanted to make sure that there aren't ships passing in the night, and we can respond to the substantive submissions of Enbridge on the revenue decoupling proposal.  And so that is the purpose for that.

I just wanted to provide that context to the extent that you take that away and come back with something a little bit different, that that was, you know, an aspect that is relevant to us.

And I had also discussed with Mr. Stevens that we will be making our arguments about onus and burden, and that this shouldn't presuppose one answer to that question or another.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  For the court reporter, it is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

So I think you know from our discovery questions in the earlier panels, we haven't decided which elements of the ED proposal that we would support or not.  And it is a bit of open question right now, and there are some other elements that may make sense that are complementary to that.

So I don't think there is an issue in principle, except that I think Mr. Stevens indicated then that, when Environmental Defence and GEC submitted their submissions
-- not reply, but the ones following the initial, that they would not be able to comment on the issue that they had already submitted, I think he was saying January 27.  So I just see that as a problem.

I just would warn about not restricting, because we would want ED and GEC to be able to make comments based on what we put in, as well.  And by restricting, you know, that process generally in a reply is a restricted process, as well.

So I am just trying to think through how that all gets enabled without too many restrictions using this process.

And, see, we weren't involved in those discussions Mr. Stevens was talking about.  We had some idea that maybe something would be proposed at some point, but we just haven't had the time to really think through it.  So I just wanted to share those comments.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, thank you, Mr. Brophy.  The intention, I think the joint intention here, is that the March 6 reply that would be available to ED/GEC would allow those parties to respond to everybody's submission on revenue decoupling, so respond to Enbridge Gas, but also respond to the other intervenors.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  The other item I just mention in regard to that is I know there was some hope from parties that Enbridge would be coming to the table with some ideas, which I know you have been reluctant to do, and are relying on responding to ED and GEC's position.  But I guess this just reinforces that process to occur.  And I don't think there is any way to force Enbridge to bring extra proposals to the table, but it just reinforces that as well.

So, I mean, I will leave it at that.  I am in the Board's hands on whatever makes sense.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Any other comments?

So we will take this away and, obviously we will have to issue another procedural order in any event.  If anybody who hasn't made a comment wants to make one, we will give everybody till the end of day to make a written submission on any aspect of what is proposed, and then we will figure out where to go from there.

MR. MONDROW:  Commissioner, if I could.  I am sorry, I should have jumped earlier, when you asked if anyone had any other comments.

I don't have any -- I don't speak against the proposal at all.  I simply want to, because I was trying to remember if this -- if I had heard this clearly from Mr. Stevens and Mr. Elson.  But from my perspective and perhaps some of the other non-proposing intervenors, what is important is that we hear ED's proposal and EGI's view on, among other things, the legal question that the panel has raised before we make submissions.

I think that is obvious, but I just wanted to make sure I made it extra obvious.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Okay.

With that, I think we are ready to proceed with the next witness panel, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I understand that there has been an objection filed to the qualification of these witnesses.  I don't actually propose to deal with that in as lengthy of a way as we did with the Current Energy Group witnesses, and I also note that Mr. Neme has actually already been qualified as a witness in this proceeding in Phase I.

I propose maybe to speak to the question for one minute, without having to ask any questions to my witnesses unless, Mr. Chair, you have a different proposal as to how to address that objection.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a moment, Mr. Elson.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Yes, we have received the written submission that you referred to.  We have to confer on what we are going to do with that.  But we are going to proceed on the basis that your witnesses are free to provide the evidence that you have planned and, based on our ruling, we will figure out the chips fall around that.

But I think if you could just carry on and get to your presentation, we will proceed on that basis.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I would have one question:  There is a number of very inaccurate statements in that letter.  Would it be helpful for me to speak to those for one minute, just to highlight them?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I think, when we are finished here today, if you want to put in a written --


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That sounds like a good use of time.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  -- submission, to reply to that, then that will be the best way to proceed.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Excellent.  Okay.  Dr. Hill and Mr. Neme, I believe you will need to be sworn in, so maybe I will pause, actually, before I ask any questions.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Dr. Hill and Mr. Neme, my name is David Sword.  I am a Commissioner.  Can you hear me?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. NEME:  Yes, we can.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  Before you bear witness, we will need to swear you in.  We will sort of do this both at the same time.  So I will read a statement and would ask for your response, but, in giving your response, could you please for the court reporter's purposes and our records give your name, the organization, and your response?  So I will read, and then I will turn to each of you to respond accordingly.  Thank you.

You are about to give evidence in this hearing.  The Panel is depending on your telling us the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, we must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, and you understand that breaking this promise would be offence under Ontario law?  Your name and response, please.

MR. NEME:  Chris Neme with Energy Futures Group; yes, I confirm that.

DR. HILL:  David Hill, Energy Futures Group, and I also confirm that.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you, both.
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MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Commissioner Sword.  I will have two questions, one about each of the subjects at hand.  And maybe I should start with RNG before we go into the presentation on the Phase I evidence.

I guess I should ask as a preliminary technical matter:  Both you, Dr. Hill and Mr. Neme, do you adopt the materials that you have filed in this proceeding, including your report and interrogatory responses, as your evidence, and do you confirm that those materials are accurate?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So, first, I will ask one question about RNG.  You proposed that renewable natural gas be purchased based on the cost per avoided lifetime carbon emissions, but could you comment on an alternative recommendation that would require Enbridge to maintain carbon neutrality from a lifetime basis over its entire portfolio, as a middle-ground position between purchasing based on dollars per cubic metre and dollars per avoided carbon emission?

DR. HILL:  Certainly.  I can respond to that.  I think that, as Enbridge has stated, the benefit of the program, the interest of the program for customers is to help them reduce emissions, and maintaining a portfolio of RNG that had carbon neutrality that would account for some sources of RNG having a higher or lower carbon intensity, lifetime carbon intensity, and varying prices according to that.  If the portfolio was designed to achieve at least carbon neutrality, I think that that would be a reasonable approach, and I would support that, recognizing that there would be some variation in the cost per cubic metre on that basis.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Dr. Hill.  Mr. Neme, do you have anything to add to that?

MR. NEME:  No.  I think, in a nutshell, the approach of valuing the actual emission reductions on a lifecycle basis that each unit of RNG produced is ideal, but the alternative that you specified would be a significant improvement over not accounting for the differences in carbon intensity at all and at least ensure, for customers who are paying for the price premium for RNG, that they are getting the level of emission reduction actually to the atmosphere that they expect.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will turn now to your presentation, Mr. Neme.  If that could be put up on the screen and marked as an exhibit, please?

MR. MILLAR:  It is K3.2.
EXHIBIT K3.2:  PANEL 5 WITNESS PRESENTATION


MR. ELSON:  I will just ask you, Mr. Neme, if you could summarize your Phase I evidence by going through this presentation.
Presentation by Mr. Neme


MR. NEME:  Yes, happy to do that.  If we could move forward two slides, I think we can skip my background.

I am going to start by summarizing at the highest level some of the key points that were raised in my report in Phase I of this proceeding.  The first is that, in a future world of decarbonization in Ontario, we should expect major declines in both peak winter demand for gas and annual gas throughput as a result of a focus on decarbonization.

There are some really important implications of such declining demands.  One is that there is a risk that capital assets that have not been fully depreciated will become underutilized and/or stranded; and that future ratepayers who are still on the gas system would be saddled with paying higher rates, potentially quite substantially higher rates, for those remaining undepreciated assets as a result.  And that that would likely create inequities between customers today, including customers whose current demands might be driving some of that capital investment, and those who are left on the system later.  That might be especially problematic for low-income households, who face disproportionately higher barriers, typically, for leaving the system.

As a result, one of the kind of core recommendations of my report a year ago was that Enbridge and other parties should be looking for ways to reduce or minimize capital spending whenever possible, while obviously still meeting safety and reliability needs, and that, in particular, adding new customers is inconsistent with a least-cost-decarbonization pathway for buildings.

And that is largely because the relative economics to customers and to society of electrification are most compelling in new construction, when you can design buildings to be optimized in a way that they might use electric heat and/or when gas-system connection costs can be avoided.  Next slide.

So I will talk about each of those points in a little bit more detail.  We should expect major declines in gas demand because natural-gas combustion in Ontario currently represents a major source of greenhouse-gas emissions in the province, about a third of the province's emissions.  Independent studies of decarbonization pathways suggest that significant amounts of electrification are the least-cost societal pathway for decarbonization.  There are no significant technical barriers to that electrification.

In contrast, there are some significant technical barriers on uncertainties in supply limitations associated with a heavier reliance on lower-carbon gaseous fuels.  My report noted that an analysis of the customer economics of heat pumps today suggests that they would lower residential bills compared to a home that is heating with a high-efficiency gas furnace.  But, more importantly, the economic advantage to customers of heat pumps on their heating bills would become much more compelling if we compare the cost of heating with a heat pump in a kind of future decarbonized world with a clean grid in comparison to the cost of heating a home with RNG when it is being procured at significant scale because of its very significantly higher cost relative to fossil gas.

Even the study that Enbridge commissioned that Guidehouse, the consultant, conducted for the company, that was discussed at great length in Phase I of this proceeding, if one were to correct just one or two of the really basic analytical errors that remained in the study, even that study would suggest that higher levels of electrification would be the least-cost pathway to decarbonizing the system.  Next slide.

So I mentioned decarbonization studies that were reviewed as part of my Phase I evidence.  I looked at several studies that were conducted in cold climates comparable to Ontario's.  The first example listed here is a study that Dunsky Energy Consulting conducted for Québec which found that, in a least-cost pathway, that gas demand would essentially disappear by 2050.

The second is a study conducted by Energy and Environmental Economics, commonly referred to as E3, for the state of New York.  That study looked at several different scenarios and found that the one that focused on accelerating electrification with the highest levels of electrification was the most cost effective and that renewable natural gas and hydrogen, though they would play a role, would play a very limited role in the long run.

The third was a study, also by E3, but this time conducted for the group of gas utilities in the state of Massachusetts.  That study looked at a number of different scenarios, but the most commonly referenced ones showed between annual throughput declines for -- not for fossil gas, but for gaseous fuels, of anywhere between the low 70s in percentage terms to had mid 80s.

That study did suggest that hybrid heating -- that is, a cold-climate heat pump, meeting most of the heating demands in homes and businesses with electricity but with gas heating backup for the coldest days and hours of the year -- could play a significant role.  And, indeed, it found that scenario was the lowest-cost scenario, although there were some issues potentially with that.  But that same study also suggested that full electrification of new construction is what they called a safe bet recommendation.

And then, lastly we looked at a study by the Canadian Climate Institute, which was a recently updated, which suggests that the most cost effective pathway for Ontario involves a 96 percent decline in gas consumption by buildings and then stated continued growth of the gas network is inconsistent with cost effectively reaching net zero.

Next slide.  To delve a deeper into issue of barriers and constraints, on the electric side we know how to generate electricity cleanly.  Wind and solar and batteries are technologies that have been widely deployed across North America, and even across the world, and the technologies necessary to electrify, in particular, residential but also commercial end uses, particularly heat pumps, are well known and have been used for quite some time and being deployed in increasing quantities today.  In contrast, some of the technologies that scenario analyzes that focus on more lower-carbon gaseous fuel pathways to decarbonization are much more uncertain.  One example is the use of hydrogen in appliances, which really hasn't been tested at all.  The use of gas heat pumps, which is a product that is only recently begun to emerge as even physically available in the market, and carbon capture and storage.

There is also no limit to how much electricity we can produce with clean resources.  To be sure there are cost implications of how much we need to produce, but it is not a technical constraint.  Or a constraint that is bound in some other way.  In contrast, studies of renewable gas potential in both the U.S. and Canada suggests that there is nowhere close to enough RNG potential, even at very high prices, to come close to meeting current demands for gas in the residential, commercial and industrial sectors.

Also, there is a lot of talk in the industry these days about hydrogen blending, but at its best, and this has not been tested very much, hydrogen might be able to be blended with methane at 20 percent by volume, which is only 6 percent by energy content.  So it could never be, as a blending option, a very substantial part of the answer for decarbonization.

Lastly, electrification can proceed piecemeal, that is house by house or even appliance by appliance within a house.  In contrast, the 100 percent hydrogen delivery that Enbridge put forward as a potential pathway in the Phase I of this proceeding would essentially require that all appliances in all homes and businesses downstream of the point at which there would be a conversion, from 100 percent methane or to 100 percent hydrogen, all of those appliances and all of those homes and businesses would have to be instantaneously switched to burning hydrogen, which I continue to believe is impractical.

Next slide, please.  As previously noted, we did an analysis of the customer economics of heat pumps and found that they would lower the energy bills of the average single family home in Toronto compared to gas alternatives.  We estimated that those bill reductions would be on the order of $500 year and would continue over the life of the heat pump or alternative systems that might be installed.  And then those conclusions about the lowering of energy bills would persist even in several sensitivity analyses to key assumptions that were used in our analysis.  As compelling as that it is actually much more important to consider what the trade-offs between a heat pump and a gas-burning heating system would be in the future, and in a decarbonized future, when we be comparing the cost relative to a fully decarbonized grid comparing that cost to the cost of heating with RNG when it is being procured at a substantial enough scale.  We did that analysis and found that the bill savings from the heat pump were much higher, a factor of three higher, than they would be today and, again, that is largely because of how much more expensive RNG is, especially at scale.  When you have a scarce resource the more demand for it the higher the clearing price will be and that drives those economic impacts.  And I will note that even that analysis probably underestimates the relative economics of heat pumps for an individual customer because it disregards, we didn't do an analysis that included the savings from avoiding fixed gas monthly charges or the fact that the delivery charges on a per cubic metre basis would likely be higher as fixed costs get spread across a smaller volume of sales, or even any accounting for the potential for RNG that is not carbon neutral to potentially, in the longer term, require some other form of offset.

Next slide, please.  As noted earlier, Enbridge contracted with Guidehouse to do a scenario analysis, again, that is what I discussed in Phase I of the proceeding.  Guidehouse made a number of corrections to the very first version of its analysis as a number of issues arose.  But even after it finished those there were a number of fundamental flaws with the study that biased it in favour of a conclusion that the gaseous fuel scenario, the higher reliance on gaseous fuel scenario, was slightly less expensive than the higher reliance on electrification.  Correcting for even one of the most important of those flaws would actually flip the result in the other direction, showing that the higher reliance on electrification was more cost effective.

Next slide.  Again, all of this leads us to suggest that it is important to reduce capital spending wherever possible on the system, that the risk of underutilized and stranded assets calls for additional efforts to reduce capital spending wherever that is possible, especially on long lived infrastructure.  And that utilities and regulators should always seek to avoid unnecessary capital spending, but even greater scrutiny is required in the current context of the energy transition approaching.

Spending on new customer connections is particularly risky, because the cost of those new connections would be recovered over decades, potentially a much longer time horizon than the point at which some of those new customers might be expected to leave the system, leaving existing customers who are left on the system paying for those remaining undepreciated balances.

And that conceptually, it would be good for Enbridge's incentives, its financial incentives, to be aligned with a capital reduction imperative, again recognizing of course that reliability and safety objectives need to be met.

Next slide.

Just to close, I will note that, in this proceeding, Enbridge has suggested that adding new customers:
"...is not in contradiction to an affordable energy transition, at least cost to ratepayers."

Again, that is inconsistent with all of the analyses that I have seen that suggest that new customers are ones that are best focused on in terms of starting efforts to promote electrification.  And again, even the study that E3 conducted for the Massachusetts gas utilities, reached that conclusion.

And the Canadian Climate Institute also has suggested that continued growth of the gas network is inconsistent with cost effectively reaching net zero.  And that is in part because, as the last, kind of, sub-bullet says here:
"Low-carbon gases like RNG are either too scarce or too costly to heat more than a small fraction of Canada's buildings, and are instead taken up by other sectors such as heavy industry. Even under low-cost assumptions for these fuels, electrification of building heat still dominates."

And that finishes the summary that I was first going to present.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Neme.

Mr. Chair, the witnesses are ready to be asked questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

Mr. Brophy, you are up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy


MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, panel, and good morning, everyone.  I chatted with, before, this panel.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I will be asking questions on behalf of Pollution Probe.

The first question:  So Enbridge filed new evidence related to the low-carbon or RNG program -- I think we have been using these terms synonymously, just last month, in November.  And I have been trying [audio dropout] about the changes in the updated evidence against other things.

But is EFG in a position to be able to catalogue the list of impacts, if any, to your report based on the updated program details filed by Enbridge?

DR. HILL:  I don't have a strict cataloguing.  I think that the reduction in the proposed program volumes is directionally consistent with what our recommendation was in terms of the volumes.  So I think we had proposed starting at 0.25 percent, increasing to one percent by 2029, as opposed to the original projection, or original proposal, excuse me, that went up to 4 percent by 2029.

The main revision I think is Enbridge's, in the revised proposal, is to set the 2029 target at 2 percent of requirements.  And so, directionally, that is consistent with what we were recommending in terms of a reduction for the program volumes.

The other changes, I haven't done a specific cataloguing of those, related to our report.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Is that something you could take away and, to the extent that there is something different, you could provide as an undertaking?

DR. HILL:  Sure.

MR. BROPHY:  Or if there is nothing that, you know, is missing, then you could just state that as well.

MR. ELSON:  We are fine with that.

DR. HILL:  Yes, yes.  That would be fine.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J3.4.
UNDERTAKING J3.4:  EFG TO CATALOGUE THE LIST OF IMPACTS, IF ANY, PROVIDED ITS REPORT BASED ON THE UPDATED PROGRAM DETAILS FILED BY ENBRIDGE

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.

So I am not sure if you were logged in earlier this morning with the Enbridge panel.  Did you hear that, or no?

DR. HILL:  Yes.  Yes, we did.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, sure.  So you may have heard that there was some discussion towards the end with the Enbridge panel.  They were struggling to explain how you can count the emissions reductions for a molecule of RNG in the Enbridge program, while the credit was already separated and being used in another program.

So are you aware of any programs that allow the emissions credit for a molecule of RNG to be counted multiple times for different programs?

DR. HILL:  There are accounting mechanisms.  As I think the participants on the Enbridge panel were saying, there are accounting structures that permit the use of different credits.

In terms of emissions reductions, I think the Commissioner's questions were on target in terms of there is only one set of physical CO2 emissions reductions created by a certain molecule of gas.  And so claiming or claiming credits or selling credits that are related to that emissions reduction should not be double-counted and should only be counted once.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And the International Standards Organization, which Canada and the U.S. follow, they have standards, and including ISO 14064, that ensure that emissions are created using life-cycle carbon intensity, and that the credits are not double-counted.

Are you familiar, in general, with those standards?

DR. HILL:  I am not familiar with the details of the ISO standards.  But, in general terms, yes, and for the accounting of greenhouse gas emissions reductions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And would you agree that that kind of accounting represents a best practice approach?

DR. HILL:  It is one of the standards that is referenced, yes, for emissions accounting for purpose of emissions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And based on your understanding of Enbridge's RNG proposal, you believe it meets that best practice standard?

DR. HILL:  I think that, as we recommended, the proposed accounting for RNG reductions would be to treat emissions reductions from all sources of RNG as similar, as being carbon neutral, and we disagree with that proposal.  And we recommended that the carbon intensity, the lifetime carbon intensity is an important factor.

The justification and the objective of the program is to provide emissions reductions.  And so accounting for those or recognizing the difference in the accounting for emissions intensities from different sources is essential to achieving that objective, at the lowest cost.

MR. NEME:  If I could add to Dr. Hill's response, I think it is really important to underscore that when you burn a molecule of renewable natural gas, it is also CH4.  The actual physical amount of carbon dioxide emissions into the atmosphere are identical to the emissions that occur when you burn fossil gas, also CH4.  There is no difference.

The only reason burning RNG is considered environmentally beneficial from a greenhouse gas perspective is because it avoids other emissions of greenhouse gases that would have occurred prior to its combustion, or in lieu of its combustion.

And, in that context, it makes no sense purely from a scientific perspective on the impact on the climate to treat emission reductions from one source of RNG which might only be offsetting half of what would have been emitted with the burning of fossil gas, to treat those the same as emission reductions from another source of RNG that might offset one and a half or two times the emissions that would occur from burning fossil gas.

So, yes, it is best practice to focus on life-cycle emissions.  But it is also the only practice that actually results in an accurate accounting of emission reductions that your program is producing in the atmosphere.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.  The next question I had is I have seen, particularly, you know, in Ontario, when they were ranking cost-effective alternatives to reduce emissions, things like a dollar-per-tonne reduction, because that allows you to take the cheapest, you know, options, and put those in place before you go with more expensive, and are you in a position to be able to provide a dollar-per-tonne estimate based on the numbers?

So Enbridge had indicated -- I think it was in your report -- that the actual costs were about $35.92 per gigajoule.  You are suggesting that the cap for RNG costs of, I think it was, $25.58 per gigajoule, so that kind of gives a range of two numbers.  Is that something that you would be able to provide some information, just to understand what that means in dollars per tonne?

DR. HILL:  Yes.  The RNG costs and the different carbon intensities tend to not favourably compare in terms of dollars per tonne.  There is a range for them because of the different carbon intensities, but they tend be consistently higher and significantly higher than other alternatives, such as energy efficiency.

That is not to say that there is not some contributing role for RNG to play in a portfolio.  I think that the characterization of RNG as being an important or in any way dominant role in terms of decarbonization futures and pathways is misguided, but I think that there is some contributing role.  And it is a more expensive source of carbon reductions than other alternatives.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Is that something that you would be able to do, is put it in an dollar-per-tonne example, or is that too difficult?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, okay.

MR. NEME:  I think we had an estimate in our report of the cost per tonne of emission reduction at a certain price and how that compares to energy efficiency, if I am not mistaken.  So are you asking for:  What is that cost per tonne at different price points for the RNG purchases?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  I thought, if you just used those two reference examples --


MR. NEME:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  -- that that would be sufficient.  And you could use -- I think the most-plentiful is landfill RNG.  You could use that as another basis.  Whatever assumptions you state are fine, and then it just gives us an idea on where it sits.

MR. NEME:  Yes, okay.

DR. HILL:  We have some of those calculations.  I am not sure everything went into the report as filed, but I would be happy to provide those as a follow-up.

MR. ELSON:  And, just before we get an exhibit number, just to be clear, Mr. Brophy, you are looking for a comparison between the cost-per-unit of emissions reductions of different kinds of RNG and against energy efficiency.  Is that right?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, you can provide against energy efficiency.  That is fine.  And just pick some illustrative RNG.  Probably, if landfill is the most prevalent, then that should be one of the examples, but I am open.  It is more to kind of directionally understand where it sits.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, and I think some of that information is on the record, so, to the extent that it already is, we will just point to it.  But, for the sake of moving forward more efficiently, let's provide an undertaking number, and then you can move on.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking --


DR. HILL:  I'm sorry.  There was some in the interrogatories.  I don't have the numbers right now.  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Right, so let's do the undertaking, and then we can highlight what is already on the record.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J3.5.
UNDERTAKING J3.5:  ED PANEL TO PROVIDE A RANKING FOR COST-EFFECTIVE ALTERNATIVES TO RNG TO REDUCE EMISSIONS, SHOWING COST PER TONNE AT DIFFERENT PRICE POINTS FOR RNG PURCHASES; TO INCLUDE EVIDENCE CITATIONS AS AVAILABLE.


MR. BROPHY:  Terrific.  I just thought I would check.  The presentation that you did, that was provided an exhibit number?

MR. MILLAR:  The Environmental Defence presentation is Exhibit K3.2.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So I just have one more question.  So, from what we have been seeing -- we have been involved in some of the leave to constructs and worked both with EPCOR and Enbridge -- there seems to be a very healthy demand and market already for RNG, with the demand far outstripping supply, and certainly we have supported production and enabling production, but we don't see that there is a shortage of the demand to actually purchase the RNG.  In fact, RNG production, as soon as it is noted, it is scooped up very quickly in the market.  Is that your understanding, as well?

DR. HILL:  I think, at this point, it would be considered to be, yes, a growing and kind of a seller's market potentially, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, under the Enbridge proposal, if there is ratepayer cost used to subsidize the purchases -- and I know there was a lot of discussion about should there be a cap, and I am not going to head down that avenue -- wouldn't that have an impact of increasing the cost to those wanting to purchase in the open market currently, if you are now cross-subsidizing purchases with ratepayer funds?

I am trying to understand the dynamics and what that would do.  Do you have any comments on that?

DR. HILL:  Yes, to the degree it increases demand, you could expect that there would be some incremental price pressure from that.  I am not sure that it would be significant, but in terms of, yes, this potentially increasing demand, whether it is through the programs acquisition from the large-volume customers, voluntary customers, or whether through the rate base, it would increase demand and therefore put some upward price pressure.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I remembered the old demand/supply curves from my MBA in finance.  You know, if we had that, we would just move the line up on demand and figure it out exactly.  But I am not aware of that information being that precise and available.

So, okay, well, thank you very much.  I appreciate those answers, and those are my questions.  Thank you.

DR. HILL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Mr. Ladanyi, you are going to take us to lunch?

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  It is still morning.

DR. HILL:  Good morning.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, and a special hello to Mr. Neme.  We see you frequently.  By the way, my comments about you in my submission are not personal.  I admire you as a great witness, and I appreciate what you are doing.

Now, Energy Probe considers that the evidence of these two witnesses is a re-argument of Phase I and a pre-argument of Phase II.  Therefore, Energy Probe has no questions for these two witnesses.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  You have easily met your time allocation, and I think we will adjourn for lunch on that high note.  We will come back at 1:00.
--- Recess taken at 11:57 a.m.
--- On resuming at 1:03 p.m.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you ready to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am, thank you very much.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Mr. Buonaguro, I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers and for the Canadian Biogas Association, and this afternoon I am going to be asking question on behalf of the Canadian Biogas Association specifically.  It is good to see you both and you in particular, Mr. Neme.  We have met.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Buonaguro, just a moment.  We having a little trouble hearing you.  I don't know if the problem is on your end or our end.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can hear you perfectly.  I happen to be in a hotel room in the States right now.  I don't know if has something to do with the Internet.  How is it going now?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  It was on our end.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Good.  I am glad it was on your end because I couldn't do anything to fix it.  Thank you. So, anyway good to see you.

MR. NEME:  Nice to see you as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I a few questions and they are mostly, or I think they are, all high level.  I am just going to put some propositions to you to see how you respond.  And as between the two of you I am going to leave it to you to answer as you will, which is my normal practice because I don't no which one of you has the answer.

So, just starting with your report in general as it relates to the proposed RNG program, and I am going to call it that, it is the LCVP but it has been clarified as to be an RNG program primarily, or almost exclusively, right now.  And if I can paraphrase my understanding of the report, while you are concerned that the RNG program not be marketed and oversold as a magic-bullet solution to decarbonization and emissions reductions, and that EGI and the OEB should not lose focus on the importance of demand side management efforts to reduce consumption and electrification programs too, when feasible, eliminate the use of natural gas altogether for many customers.  You do agree that there is a constructive supporting role for RNG in EGI's plans and decarbonization efforts?  Is that a fair characterization of your report as it relates to RNG?

DR. HILL:  I agree that it can play a supporting role, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am hoping, or I think that you would agree, that in a future where demand side management has materially reduced consumption and electrification efforts have reduced the natural gas system by many customers, but there remains demands for natural gas, it will be desirable for Enbridge to have access to the robust supply of RNG to displace and/or offset as much as possible the emissions from the combustion of fossil based natural gas; would you agree with that?

DR. HILL:  I would say as the energy transition takes place I think that there can continue to be contributing and supportive role for RNG.

MR. NEME:  And the only thing I would add to Dr. Hill's answer is related to another aspect of our report, is that it would be important for that role to reflect the actual change in emissions to the atmosphere that the various sources of RNG that the company might procure would produce on a life cycle basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, that's so -- I take your point in terms of you have specific opinions about specific types of RNG and the, I guess I would call, the desire for the most emissions reductions if possible.  But I think you are agreeing that, you know, in a future where there is still natural gas demand despite the use in reductions and despite eliminating vast amounts of customers, it would be helpful have RNG to help offset emissions for remaining use of natural gas?

MR. NEME:  Yes, if we are going to fully decarbonize the economy we need to have solutions that address all remaining energy consumption, and to the extent that some of that is still demand for gaseous fuel, which we would expect it would be, it is just a question of how much, having an alternative that offsets the emissions that would otherwise have occurred would be important.  And I just say it that way because, again, not all RNG is equal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, would you agree that is unlikely in such a future that a robust source of RNG is going to spring into existence?  But rather it will be necessary for Enbridge to build that resource over time, similar to what both BC and Québec, in our view, are already planning to do?

DR. HILL:  I think clearly the current market and current availability of RNG projects is still in its early stages of development, and so the resource, the physical resource, for RNG projects and supplies is greater than the number of projects that have been developed.  So, the demand as well as the -- I mean the supply projects that can meet a growing demand will be growing over time.  I mean, right now it is still a very early stage.  The levels of production and the levels of procurement that Enbridge has had so far are far, far below the targets that are even in their reduced proposal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Would you agree that in designing its program, Enbridge's primary consideration should be emissions reductions for its customers specifically?

DR. HILL:  Yes, I would agree.  I mean, I think that I have heard Enbridge on a number of occasions during this proceeding saying that they are responding to customer interest, they've stated it as customer interest in RNG.  I would tend to suggest that the customer's interest in RNG is not necessarily in RNG as the molecule as we are saying, but the reason customers are interested in RNG is because they would like to have options for reducing their emissions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  And based on that, and this is a very specific question I should say in relation to one of your recommendations that, I think -- while a number of your recommendations about the structure of the program suggest a prioritization which is more open than something specific.  So, I am thinking specifically about your proposal that they should not be allowed to procure existing sources of RNG, it should only be new sources of RNG, so that part of your report.

The scenario that comes to mind in relation to discuss reducing emission reduction specifically for its own customers, and I will put to you the scenario:  Would you agree that if an existing source of RNG becomes available, for example from an RNG producer in Ontario that has been shipping its RNG outside the province, it is now looking to possibly sell its RNG to Enbridge locally, that Enbridge should be at liberty to include that procurement in its portfolio, if possible?

DR. HILL:  I think that that would make sense.  We did mention, you know, maybe it should have been stated as a preference potentially for the development of new projects to help grow the supply, and then also potentially a preference for more locally-produced or indigenously produced resources.

MR. NEME:  You asked earlier, Mr. Buonaguro, about, you know, isn't the principal goal to reduce emissions and I think that the answer to that is yes.  But I think there is also a second goal as the company is really just kind of ramping up its efforts around RNG, which is to kind of spur the development of the market.  And for that reason we suggest that some preference for new and local would make sense.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I can tell you that when you talk about, in terms of preference as opposed to hard lines, I think we are on the same page, you know, so I just wanted to confirm how hard some of those edges were.  And it sounds like there is -- you are agreeing that there are opportunities where it makes sense for Enbridge to go into to make a procurement, even if it is an existing supply in the case that I gave you, depending on the circumstances.

DR. HILL:  Yes, with the recognition -- I mean, hopefully I would guess in terms of emissions reductions, hopefully if it is displacing, say someone else is already under contract for RNG and this program procures that supply, hopefully that -- the previous buyer of that RNG is then not reverting back to fossil gas and then there is not an increase in the supply and the demand for the RNG.  But I think that that is a likely scenario that the increase -- that the previous buyer of the RNG would procure other RNG, would be the hope.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  So this has gone fairly quickly.  I only have one other thing, and I am almost hesitant to do it because it involves a diagram, but I am going to give it to you, anyway.

If I can ask for an Exhibit K2.6 to be put up?  And this is a diagram I pulled from one of your sources in your report.  I think I mentioned it yesterday.  If you were listening yesterday, you have probably already seen it.

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I can tell you, the reason I pulled it up and why I used it, it just seemed like a useful illustration of what life-cycle emissions look like, and with a comparison between a couple of the two extreme cases of RNG against natural gas.

In putting it up here, I am not saying that any of the numbers in particular are particularly accurate; I think they are representative.  And so it is just a matter of helping the conversation.

So, for this panel, what I was curious to understand and see if I understand it correctly, when we talk about the avoided emissions column there, which is I guess the first and best reason why producers are doing anything with their emissions.  If we look at for example the negative 300 emission reduction from agricultural manure and renewable natural gas, my understanding is that avoided emission occurs, and I will call it right off the bat:  When an agricultural producer on their property is capturing what otherwise would have been methane emissions from manure, in this case, they are capturing that and avoiding methane emissions.

And then, as I understand it, I think worse-case scenario, flaring those captured emissions into the atmosphere as CO2, and combusting it, with a net result that, because you are avoiding methane emissions and you are still producing some carbon dioxide emissions, nevertheless, the net result is very good for the environment, in this case, measured at negative 300.

Is that essentially what is happening?

DR. HILL:  I think so, yes.  And, you know, there can be a range.  Even with the agricultural projects that can be used, that -- instead of one option is flaring of the gas, with no use of that thermal energy.  It can also potentially be used to offset thermal loads at the facility or, in a number of cases, used to generate electricity at the facility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And you will notice I mentioned worse-case scenario.  And I said that specifically because what I am trying to get at is that that negative 300 in this case, of avoided emissions, that avoided emission amount is achieved even if all you do is flare the gas into the atmosphere.

And what you are talking about is then taking it a step further and either using it for electricity or for heat; those are incremental benefits to the initial avoided emission.  Is that fair?

DR. HILL:  I think with agriculture projects, as you were saying this is representative; I don't know footnote 2 there.  I think if these are based on this California Resources Board, they show a rather large range of project-by-project specific carbon intensities, depending on how that is used, what is displacing, et cetera.

So I don't know whether this, the 300, is directly associated with a flaring, or it is an average of the range of projects that they are seeing a weighted average of the range of projects they have seen, I think, is the way that they develop the carbon intensity.

MR. NEME:  I just want to make sure I understood your question correctly, and so I just want to make this clear:  If I am understanding this graphic correctly, the value in carbon dioxide equivalents of avoiding the methane that otherwise would have been emitted to the atmosphere is 300; it is a 300 reduction.

If you burn it, if you flare it, you avoid that 300, but you still have some -- then you have some carbon emissions that offset some of that 300, so that the net impact would be less than 300 when you combine those two effects.

DR. HILL:  True, yes.

MR. NEME:  I just want to make that clear, because the way I have heard you ask the question, I thought you were saying you would get a benefit of 300 if you flared, instead of emitted, and I think that that is not quite right.  You would get maybe, like, 240 or something like that, but net of those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, that is fair enough.  But my point, it is simpler than that.  My point is that you are achieving avoided emissions, even if all you do at the end of the day is end up flaring it.

MR. NEME:  In the case of the animal manure, I think that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that, when you flare it, you are emitting carbon -- carbon dioxide in this case.  But it is considered biogenic, because that is carbon dioxide that is already considered to be part of the natural carbon cycle because of how quickly the whole life cycle that carbon is, because it is -- it becomes animal manure, and then it becomes emissions and then so forth.

It is not treated the same, I guess, philosophically, as fossil-based RNG or fossil-based emissions?

MR. NEME:  That I don't agree with.  The burning of methane from animal manure is still putting the same amount of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere as the burning of fossil gas.  The fact that it came from animal manure doesn't change that.

What you are avoiding however is a substantial addition, and that -- it is the but-for test that, but for collecting and flaring it would have occurred, and the net effect of those things is what changes what is in the atmosphere and changes the amount of climate change that will occur.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But do I take it from that that you don't agree with the distinction between biogenic and fossil-based carbon?

MR. NEME:  It depends on what you mean by the distinction between them.  I get that they represent two different ways of categorizing sources of methane, but -- and that, I obviously agree with.  But just because something is biogenic doesn't mean that it has zero impact on the climate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So again, if I take it a step further, and the way I looked at it, and then maybe you can agree with me or not:  My understanding is that when you take -- and let's take the agricultural example here, where you have captured the methane, you have avoided the methane emissions, you are going to dispose of it as -- through combustion, you are not going to use it for onsite heat or electricity.

If you, instead of just flaring it, displace fossil-based carbon -- fossil-based natural gas, I should say, I would see that as an incremental benefit you are creating to the displacement of the fossil-based natural gas.  Do you agree with that?

MR. NEME:  Yes, if -- again, it is the but-for test.  So you have to ask yourself, absent the acquisition of this animal manure methane to just -- to burn in somebody's furnace, what would have happened.  And if the answer to what would have happened is that the methane would have just been released to the atmosphere and instead, we are burning it, that is one thing.

If the answer what would have happened is that the methane from the animal manure would have been flared at the dairy farm or whatever, then the thing you are avoiding, the amount of greenhouse gas emission you are avoiding to the atmosphere, is different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not quite sure I am with you yet, but let me just try this:  There is scenario one, you do nothing; the manure just emits into the atmosphere as methane.  That is the worst-case scenario, right?  You are not gaining any benefit.  That is just nature, we will call it.

Scenario two, you capture the methane from the manure and you flare it off, creating carbon dioxide.  You have created the benefit.  We, and I -- exactly what the number is, but you understand the scenario.

MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have created a benefit.  There is a scenario three, where you capture the methane and, instead of flaring it, you displace fossil-based natural gas.

MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is a third scenario, creating a benefit above and beyond the second scenario.  Can we agree with that?

MR. NEME:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That is the limit of my ability to do this, so I appreciate your answers.  And those are my questions of this panel.  Thank you, very much.  I appreciate it.

DR. HILL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Mondrow.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, witnesses.  Mr. Neme, nice to see you, and, Dr. Hill, nice to meet your virtually.

DR. HILL:  Yes, nice to meet you, too.

MR. MONDROW:  I just have a very few questions, and I am just actually trying to reconcile some of your [audio dropout].  So, Dr. Hill, I believe you said earlier in your testimony that -- and this is about RNG -- that RNG at the moment is a seller's market, which I take to mean more supply than -- sorry, there is more demand than supply, which would, should, spur development.  And, Mr. Neme, you said that one of the benefits of Enbridge's program is to spur development in the market.

But what I am wondering is, gentlemen, why Enbridge needs to procure in order to foster development in a market where demand has already outstripped supply.

DR. HILL:  I think that Enbridge, as well as others -- as was said, this is Enbridge's customers are looking for options that would include electrification or efficiency or decarbonized gases to help reduce their emissions.  And that is not unique to Enbridge's customers nor to Enbridge as a company.  There are numerous jurisdictions across North America where decarbonization strategies and energy-transition options are being investigated.  And so, Enbridge, like other potential gas companies, the development of RNG as a resource at an appropriate scale is something that the market will help to increase.

I think right now the demand for it exceeds the supply from the projects that have been developed.  There are a lot of things that can make agricultural manure projects, which tend to have the highest benefit in terms of emissions reductions, expensive:  Their location, how close they are, the need to clean the gas to be appropriate for blending in the pipeline, et cetera, and the level of collection for the methane-capture infrastructure that is already in place or not.

So they are relatively expensive, so there is a lot more agricultural and also potentially food-waste resources that haven't been tapped before, and so this increased interest in RNG as a decarbonized, partially decarbonized, gaseous resource is driving the demand, and so the demand right now will help to push the supply, increase the supply.

MR. MONDROW:  I am not sure I fully understand, Dr. Hill.

MR. NEME:  Can I --

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.

MR. NEME:  Let me try to answer, to build on Dr. Hill's answer in this way.  I think, as we said to Mr. Buonaguro, the most important reason for Enbridge to procure RNG would be to lower the greenhouse-gas emissions footprint of its customers collectively.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Neme, thank you.  Sorry.  If I could just stop you at the first reason for a second --

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- I thought your evidence was also there were cheaper and more efficient ways to do that than buying RNG.

MR. NEME:  Well, there are.  There are.

MR. MONDROW:  So that is not a reason to buy RNG.

MR. NEME:  Well, if you thought that the other ways to reduce emissions could get you all the way to where you need to go by themselves, at a lower cost, then I would agree with that statement.  But I think, even though we believe, given all of the studies that have been done, that RNG is not going to be the primary answer, most studies suggest that it needs to be part of the answer.  And so, while it is more expensive than some of the other solutions to reducing greenhouse-gas emissions, if it needs to be part of the answer, then getting started on that part of the answer is a good thing.

The point we try to raise in our evidence about this is just let's be careful about the relative emphasis on RNG compared to other things that might be a lot less expensive.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  No, I understood that point, but what I am trying to get at is the point of:  Why should Enbridge be doing the procurement if the demand in the market already outstrips supply?

MR. NEME:  Well, that gets to second reason, which is a secondary reason.  The first, as I said, the first reason is to reduce its customers' emissions footprint.  The secondary reason, as we suggested, is to help spur development.  And the fact that the demand is currently outstripping supply doesn't mean that more demand wouldn't help spur development further; it would.  It would just drive us further up the supply curve.

DR. HILL:  If I can, it will enable -- the reason I was mentioning the cost of some agricultural projects, increasing the demand and paying a premium for renewable natural gas through these programs and others will help to develop agricultural manure projects that wouldn't otherwise necessarily be built.  And those potentially can have a greater than one-to-one offset because of the avoided direct methane emissions.

MR. MONDROW:  Isn't the issue the type of demand?  Isn't the issue that, leaving aside existing projects, new projects require longer term commitments at a premium price relative to fossil gas than the market is prepared to provide unaided at that the moment?  I thought that was the issue.  Can you agree that?

MR. NEME:  Can you restate the question?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  So, when, Dr. Hill, you mentioned earlier that demand is outstripping supply, that is demand for existing, RNG generated from existing projects.  But I thought the issue that Enbridge is trying to address is -- and I guess I am looking to understand if you agree that this is the issue -- is that new projects require longer term commitments from the off-taker than the market is generally prepared to provide at the moment, unaided.

So Enbridge is going to subsidize these purchases or backstop them, at least.  Either customers will pay a premium, or, if not, in order to protect Enbridge from being exposed to a premium payment for this methane, Enbridge is proposing that system customers will absorb any premium that is not taken up on a voluntary basis by large-volume system-supply customers.

And, to me, that is the issue, and I am just trying to reconcile the testimony.  And so the issue really is that Enbridge, the role that Enbridge is seeking to fill is to provide a premium -- to pay a premium price on a longer term basis than the rest of the demand-side market is currently willing to provide, and that is the support that Enbridge is looking to the Board for, is a mandate to do that.

DR. HILL:  I would think I would modify that somewhat.  My understanding, Enbridge wants to procure this in the marketplace; they want to do it through competitive solicitations.  They mentioned the benefit or the discount in terms of the evaluation that they would have for Indigenous projects.  But I think that they are not saying that they are going to do this in order to pay a premium above what the market is doing currently but that they feel that they would like to increase the demand in the market by entering the market with, at least for the first four years and then, if approved, on an ongoing basis, a set volume that is significantly higher than what they have procured in the past but that they would be doing that in the competitive marketplace.

MR. MONDROW:  But the unique feature of Enbridge's proposal relative to what the market is already providing on the demand side is the length of the contract term.  So Enbridge and a couple of other regulated utilities have been able to step up with 15- or 20-year contracts.  And it is my understand that the general demand in the market from large industrial customers, for example, they are not able at this point to commit to a premium price for 20 years.  And that is a problem when you are developing an RNG project; you need a longer term commitment than the unaided, that is unsubsidized by customer market, is able to provide.  And I thought that was the need we are trying to address.

DR. HILL:  But, again, I agree that the -- I mean a longer term contract should provide more stability, should be able to come in at potentially a lower cost than a shorter term contract.  But my understanding is that all of this is within the context of doing it in the competitive marketplace.  So, yes, as a utility and as part of this proposal they would be able and willing to enter into longer term contracts.  I think that they might consider that or I would consider that as one of the competitive advantages that they might have in the marketplace in terms of saying produce supply we are willing to provide you with a long term contract.

MR. MONDROW:  I mean, their proposal is competitive in the sense that they are competing bids.

DR. HILL:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  But -- and I shouldn't say subsidized as a blanket statement because, of course, as we understand the proposal is customers say they want this and they are willing to pay a premium for it, so that is what Enbridge is going to offer as a first instance.  But anything that is not taken up by those customers willing to pay a premium, or perhaps any premium they are not willing to pay, I am not entirely clear, but that uncovered premium is going to be -- is proposed to be recovered from system customers large on a mandatory basis, that is they have no choice but to pay that if the Board approves the program.  And so, it is kind of a -- it is not quite a competitive market on the demand side.  It is a regulated market in a way on the demand side.  But Enbridge is proposing to leverage competitive bids to supply in order to fill that premium as much as possible; is that fair?

DR. HILL:  Yes.  My understanding is that Enbridge has determined through their survey work that was referenced yesterday that customers are willing to pay, you know, up to this amount.  So I don't know, you know, there was some questions and discussions on the survey expressed yesterday, but they have indications or belief that customers are looking for and willing to accept an impact of up to the proposed amounts per month and that that budget is then the amount that they have to be able to go out and competitively procure in the market using advantages like the ability to offer a long term contract an amount of RNG.  The benefits from that RNG that they are trying to obtain include the emissions reductions and that is why we think it is essential for them to consider the carbon intensity.

MR. MONDROW:  And so, leaving -- I take your carbon intensity point.  Just in terms of the proposal of the program per se, the function that Enbridge is proposing, or Enbridge's program would fulfill, which I gather you are endorsing, is to provide a longer term off-take that is supported by a cost recovery protection to the utility.  And that will help to -- help in the development of new RNG projects that, at the moment, wouldn't develop on their own and that is the value of the program in the longer term; is that fair?

MR. NEME:  I don't know that that is the only value.  Again --


MR. MONDROW:  Is it a value?

MR. NEME:  It is a value.  I think -- in a way the more fundamental value is that the company would be locking in a certain amount of emissions reduction for its customers collectively.

MR. MONDROW:  But paying more than they would by other means.  I think that was one of your criticisms.  So, in other words, you are trying to limit the damage, but I am just trying to assess whether you are actually acknowledging that the program as proposed has a positive value that you endorse.  And I am not entirely clear.  Maybe this is just something to leave you with that question.

MR. NEME:  Let me try to restate it this way:  The company will be acquiring resources that reduce the collective carbon footprint, or greenhouse gas footprint, of its customers.  That may include, as you have noted, socializing some of that cost across all customers, rather than just customers who want to take up RNG on a voluntary basis.

Yes, that is the more expensive emission reduction than some other emission reduction options that the company has in front of it, but I think we are supportive of some level of that because we don't believe that there is a single magic bullet to reducing or offsetting the company's emissions of greenhouse gasses that this is appropriate to be a part of that mix.  And that you can't instantaneously, very difficult to, instantaneously for any one of the resource options reducing greenhouse gas emissions to go from zero to 100 percent.

And so, some level of growth in this area is probably reasonable, even if it is more expensive than other emission reduction options, as long as the recognition that there are other emission reduction options that are less expensive, and so the kind of level of effort across the different choices is skewed more towards those options that have lower cost, with this one being a higher cost.  Which is the reason why we proposed in our report that they proceed, but with kind of a more measured level of effort.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But so, another difference, though -- and, Mr. Neme, as I understand it is your view, which you held for a long time and you have been very clear in articulating, energy efficiency is actually cheaper than burning gas.  So, you get energy service for less than you would for paying for conventional fossil gas with energy efficiency, so customers save on a net base.  In this case there is a premium being paid, and if we assume that not all of the RNG will be taken up by customers voluntarily, which may or may not happen, but if we assume that doesn't happen there is a subsidy from regulated system supply customers in their regulated gas price in order to kickstart the market.  I am just trying to determine whether you endorse that subsidy as appropriate, assuming that there isn't full 100 percent voluntary take up.

MR. NEME:  Yes, some modest level of that kind of subsidy to get started down this path, on this one resource, I think we think is reasonable given where the company would need to be with all of the options efficiency, electrification, district heating, RNG, whatever other kind of combination of solutions are going to need to be cobbled together to decarbonize the system over the next 25 years, some amount of subsidy to make that happen on RNG, as long as it is reasonable in scale compared to the level of focus and effort on the other lower cost options, seem reasonable.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  As long as it is bounded, and you suggested the boundaries you think appropriate?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Dr. Hill.

DR. HILL:  Also that is not -- I am not suggesting Enbridge is doing this in the current case, but there are
-- I have seen examples where RNG is perhaps not characterized strictly as the individual single element that will get you there, but that it is somehow a much larger portion of the solution for a decarbonized pathway towards the future than it will play out in the end.  Because we are talking about, again, you know, ramping up to, you know, 2 percent by 2029 or 1 percent of gas supply, this still leaves 99 percent of the gas supply or 98 percent of the gas supply as fossil gas.  And so, it is important that there not be the impression that because RNG, there is an RNG program, Enbridge is providing services to allow customers to have some blend of RNG in their pipeline service that does not decarbonize the system.  And it shouldn't be used to present that impression to customers or to the policy makers.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  No, I get that point.  Essentially that boils to, while you are endorsing this limited market facilitating program, you don't want that to be taken as endorsing a future where we are fully utilizing and adding capital to the gas system, and I think you have made that very clear.  So, thank -- unless you want to comment on that, I certainly understand.  Okay.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. HILL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Gluck.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gluck


MR. GLUCK:  Good afternoon.  My name is Lawrie Gluck and I am a consultant for the Consumers Council of Canada.  I only have a few questions for you today and they are related to RNG.  And they are in a similar topic as you just discussed with Mr. Mondrow.

If I could take you to page 16 of the EFG report, please.  And in the second bullet on this page -- and you and Mr. Mondrow did discuss that it is your view that DSM conservation is significantly less expensive than the procurement of RNG.  Given the cap that you have suggested on the incremental cost of RNG of $25.58.  It is your evidence that the cost per tonne of CO2, tonne of CO2 equivalent reduction, is $511.  Right?

DR. HILL:  Correct.  That is -- yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And would you take it subject to check, and I discussed this with Enbridge yesterday, that their DSM program on a weighted-average basis results in CO2 emission reduction, tonne of CO2 emission reductions, at a cost of $42.60?

MR. NEME:  Well, it depends on how that number is calculated.  If that is just the program cost divided by the emissions, we would have to look and see whether that is the right answer.  But, as Mr. Mondrow pointed out, unlike with RNG, DSM also reduces costs.  And, so when you are computing a cost per tonne of emission reduction from DSM, you should first net out from the cost of the DSM program all of the cost savings that the program also provides.

So my sense is that DSM actually produces greenhouse gas emission reductions at a negative cost.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So do you agree that --


MR. NEME:  The greenhouse gas emission reductions come along for the ride almost, with other cost savings.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.  So the DSM savings, the number I gave you is $42.60.  The cost in your view is much lower than that, even?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  I think so, yes.  I don't know where that $42 comes from, but yes, I would imagine the number would actually be negative.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  The number is just the total savings divided by the total cost.  That is where that number came from.

DR. HILL:  Right, without accounting for, as Mr. Neme is saying, the avoided costs of the gas that is saved.

MR. GLUCK:  That is right.

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. NEME:  Yes, yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.

And I had a conversation with Enbridge yesterday about the total cost of their program.  And, at 2 percent of the total supply, no voluntary participation, a $25.58 per GJ price and the signing of five-year contracts, they agreed that the program has a cost of $1.3 billion.

And your proposal, which is also at a $25.58 maximum price, so that, you know, we are looking at the maximums here, and you have cut the program in half, to one percent.

So would you accept that even at your level, of one percent of the total supply, you are suggesting a $650 million program.

MR. NEME:  That is over five years, did you say?

MR. GLUCK:  If they sign five-year contracts, yes.

MR. NEME:  If they sign five-year contracts -- subject to check.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And given the DSM and electrification are more cost-effective solutions for carbon emission reduction, why in your view should there be any non-voluntary RNG program, and wouldn't it make more sense to avoid spending $650 million on a very cost-inefficient way of reducing carbon emissions?

MR. NEME:  Let me say it this way, and this is what I was trying to say to Mr. Mondrow, as well:  If there was a choice between spending money on RNG and spending the same amount of additional money on DSM, and we could only have one or the other, we would certainly support spending the money on more DSM instead or, for that matter, for other sources of greenhouse gas emission reductions that were also lower cost per tonne of emission reduction.

The point I was trying to make to Mr. Mondrow is that the task of getting to fully decarbonizing the gas system between now and 2050, say, is a pretty substantial one, and that DSM is not going to get us there by itself.  Electrification, though we think it is likely to play the biggest role, will not get us there by itself.  RNG certainly is not going to get us there by itself.

We are probably going to need some, you know, combination of all the above.  And for every one of those slices of the pie of the solution, I would suggest that we can't wait to 2040 to get going, because work needs to get done to kind of build the capacity and the market and so on.  So some level of investment in all of those things in our view makes sense.  We would just put much more of the emphasis on the things that are lower cost, have other benefits et cetera, such as DSM.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, for that.  Can I just ask you, why did you choose one percent of total supply by 2029?

DR. HILL:  That recommendation came from me, and it was looking at, as was proposed in the initial filing, it ramped up to 4 percent.  And I considered the amount that had been procured through the voluntary program in the past, and to some level, that would be -- that would represent an increase in demand and be responsive to meeting what Enbridge has said their customers' interest in potentially renewable natural gas is one means for decarbonization, but wanting to be somewhat constrained.

And I understand there is kind of a dual message here of, yes, this can contribute, but it is not certainly the sole or -- and it is a minor portion of the overall solution.  But recognizing that, for some of the economic development benefits, the development of local resources, the avoidance of direct methane emissions through agriculture manure projects, et cetera, that there is some potential benefit for this.

And so going much below the one percent level starts to feel -- so that was a judgment call, basically; the reduction from proposed ramping up to 4 percent, cutting that down to one percent was what I thought was a reasonable proposal to make.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. NEME:  And maybe, if I can provide some additional context:  You know, if you look at the decarbonization studies for gas systems that are out there, of buildings, different scenarios have different answers.  But generally speaking, I think they suggest that, by 2050, RNG in the gas system that is fully decarbonized probably has, you know, like a 10 to 20 percent role to play.

DR. HILL:  Right.

MR. NEME:  So if we get to one percent by -- you know, by near 2030, we are still a long ways from where we want to need to end up, but at least beginning to make some headway in that direction.

DR. HILL:  You know, at that time, the volumes will be -- the overall gas volumes will be much lower.

MR. NEME:  That is true.

DR. HILL:  And then the other thing, you know, that played in, there are other gas companies that have higher percentage targets for their RNG programs currently, but we didn't feel, because of the concerns that we have expressed and the concerns that you have raised, some about the costs of this and the comparative cost effectiveness with other decarbonization methods, we felt it appropriate to not foreclose this as something that can be developed, but just to do it in a measured way, because it is expensive.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.  Those are my questions.

DR. HILL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.  Mr. Daube.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Daube


MR. DAUBE:  Good afternoon.

MR. NEME:  Good afternoon.

MR. DAUBE:  Could we please start with page 20 of your report, and section E, please.

You have referenced this in various ways, but I just thought I would start with the citation.  So the heading is "Acknowledge RNG has a complimentary and supporting role."  Do you see that?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  One thing that hasn't come out in your testimony, I want to see if this remains true, your assertion that:
"Independent decarbonization pathway studies consistently show that decarbonized gas can play a supporting role in meeting long-term emission reduction targets."


Does that remain true?

MR. NEME:  Yes, that does remain true.  The question is simply what is the magnitude of that supporting role and for which customers.

DR. HILL:  And I would add to that:  Even for which end uses.  We really have not talked about much decarbonized gases as substitutes for residential building thermal loads, or, as a source for residential building thermal loads may not be as appropriate potentially, there has not been that much discussion here about hydrogen, et cetera.  But decarbonized gases generally will have some strategic high-value roles potentially in the decarbonized future, and so we think that they can play a supporting role.

MR. DAUBE:  So all of that is consistent with -- you have used the expression "no single magic bullet."  It is consistent with your conversations with Mr. Mondrow, with Mr. Gluck.

So RNG is one tool in the toolkit if employed correctly.  Is that right?

MR. NEME:  Yes, if employed correctly and in reasonable balance with the other tools in the toolkit, given the relative costs.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Can we go to my client's compendium, please, at page 114.  I want to thank you before we get into it.  Sometimes answers to interrogatories are a bit long and winding, and I found yours very clear, so thank you.  We are going to spend some time on your answer.

So, if we go to answer A, please, we see again your recommendation of a 1 percent target.  And that of course is consistent with your report.  And, if we keep going to answer B, this is what I want the focus of our conversation mainly to be, economic benefit.

You say that the procurement of RNG in Ontario can benefit First Nations or Indigenous groups interested in RNG development.  Do you recall writing that?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And I think this is clear.  You are speaking for the most part about First Nations or Indigenous groups who are actively participating in RNG develop.  Is that right?

MR. NEME:  Whether they are actively participating in RNG development or not probably doesn't matter.  It is if they are interested in participating in RNG development in the future, this could be supportive.

MR. DAUBE:  I guess what I am trying to tease out is:  Sitting on the couch being interest isn't enough; you are anticipating --


MR. NEME:  Serious interest.

MR. DAUBE:  -- either current participation or engagement or future participation or engagement.  Right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  Obviously, it needs to be serious interest for it to go anywhere.

MR. DAUBE:  Let's elaborate.  Let's elaborate on what you mean by "benefits."  Do these benefits include jobs?

DR. HILL:  I think the benefits would include:  If a project is developed if, as proposed, there are longer term contracts that are that are increasing the demand for RNG projects and in-region projects, there could be the benefit of the ownership and the return on the investment for the contract; there could be jobs associated both primarily with the development of the project, potentially some ongoing jobs with the operation of the project.

And then I think that there was a discussion or there was a question earlier this morning about the consumption potentially of RNG.  We were not directly referring to that.  We were thinking about more in terms of development of new RNG projects in the region.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you.  You have anticipated some of my questions.  But, breaking it down further, do you accept that Indigenous participation in RNG development would mean increased opportunities for Indigenous leadership and participation in Ontario's energy sector more broadly?

MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. DAUBE:  And I am borrowing from conversations and precise language earlier on.  I take it, when you say longer term contracts for RNG in the region and you talk about ownership and return, you would also agree that benefits can include long-term sustainable benefits from economic development projects?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  Sure.  Anytime an investment is made in a local community, there will be jobs, there will be cash inflow which will in turn have rippling effects through the local economy, positive rippling effects through the local economy.

MR. DAUBE:  Can we go to question E, so scrolling up a bit, please.  My clients asked you to comment on setting targets under the LCEP for procuring RNG from First Nations- and Indigenous-owned suppliers in Ontario.  And your answer, if we scroll down -- this is a bit of a scavenger hunt here -- we see "see response to C", and, if we go to your answer to C, am I right that you indicated that you hadn't considered and don't take a position on whether a higher price cap for First Nations or Indigenous groups is appropriate?

DR. HILL:  Right.  That was our response.  I think, at the time we were writing that, I was not aware -- it may have been stated; I wasn't aware the proposed -- I think this is more recent, the proposed 10 percent --


MR. DAUBE:  Yes, that is right.

DR. HILL:  -- [audio dropout] --


MR. DAUBE:  If you don't mind, I will jump in because you are --


DR. HILL:  Sure.

MR. DAUBE:  -- about to go exactly where I would like to go.

DR. HILL:  Okay.

MR. DAUBE:  You did say, in the final three lines -- I will just make sure I am quoting you.  You did say "a differentiated price cap or other mechanism --"

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  "-- such preferential scoring or procurement or a percent set aside could be considered."  Do you recall writing that?

DR. HILL:  Yes, I do.

MR. DAUBE:  And so, since you wrote that answer, you are aware obviously of this Indigenous discount advantage proposal that has been advanced before the commissioners.  Is that right?

DR. HILL:  Correct, and that would be the preferential scoring and procurement.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  So you are aware of the 10 percent discount advantage for Indigenous projects?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And you are aware of the 5 percent Indigenous target?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, assuming a policy goal of encouraging Indigenous participation in Ontario's energy sector, is that general framework consistent with the types of mechanisms that you were suggesting for consideration in your answer C?

DR. HILL:  Yes, as a mechanism.  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Can we go back to page 20 of your report, scrolling down to section 3 and your recommendations, please.  This is my final set of questions.  Your first recommendation, you have bolded or titled "redirect funds to more cost-effective uses."  Is that right?

DR. HILL:  It is.

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Would you agree that there are at least two aspects to this first recommendation; that is to say you are recommending both a reduction in Enbridge's target to 1 percent, and you are recommending that the funds saved as a result of that reduction be redirected to other more cost-effective uses?

DR. HILL:  Yes.  I think, upon consideration and recognizing that this is not a proceeding to develop or determine spending on efficiency, it might be more appropriate to state that we believe that there are important -- it is important to consider the cost effectiveness of strategies for emissions reductions, and the company's proposals and plans and, you know, spending proposals should recognize that there are more cost efficient means for reducing emissions than strictly from RNG, and as we have said that doesn't mean we think that RNG should be thrown out with the bath water, but it should be deployed on a more limited basis.

MR. DAUBE:  I understand.  But you are taking me in a direction that I don't really want to go, that is consistent with what you said before.  But what I am trying to understand is I take those two -- I mean, first, you don't disagree that those are two different things forming part of your first recommendation; right?

MR. NEME:  Yes, but they are intimately connected.

MR. DAUBE:  That is exactly what I want to ask you.  So, they operate together.  And towards an overarching goal of effective decarbonization; is that correct?

MR. NEME:  Yes, it speaks to what I was saying to Mr. Mondrow earlier about advancing the ball on several fronts.  But in doing so, the level of investment, the level of focus on those different decarbonization fronts should be informed by the relative role of each of the decarbonization options are likely to play in the long run, and their relative cost for producing emission reductions.  So, the suggestion that the scope of the RNG effort be reduced, relative to what Enbridge proposed, was paired with a statement that says that at the same time you should essentially increase your level of focus on the other things which, like DSM, are lower cost.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, and all of that I take it you are agreeing towards more effective, in your mind, decarbonization; right?

MR. NEME:  More effective and more cost effective, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  I don't think you are going to like this hypothetical, but I am going to put it to you anyway and I would appreciate a response.  Let's say the Board accepts your one percent target, but rejects your recommendation to collect funds from ratepayers and redirect those funds to other uses.  My first question for you is:  Would you agree that that would mean less of a GHG reduction impact than what you anticipate in your current recommendations would produce?

MR. NEME:  Well, first, let me say that we don't expect that that determination could be made in this proceeding.  The decision on how much DSM to support is going to be coming next year in a DSM proceeding.  But putting that point aside, if one were to wave a magic wand and say that decision would be made now, then you are correct.

DR. HILL:  And when the time comes for the DSM spending discussion, one of the things that the Board will consider, rightfully, is the potential level of rate impacts, and so if there has been more spent on rate impacts for a higher level of RNG procurement; that is something then that might be a consideration in thinking about the levels of efficiency spending.

MR. DAUBE:  Fair enough.  And similarly, waving my magic wand again, as you put it.  If the Board were to accept your proposal of 1 percent, but not follow through with your recommendation of redirect -- collecting and redirecting funds, it would also mean less of a GHG reduction impact than what Enbridge would produce with its current proposal of 2 percent procurement; correct?

MR. NEME:  All other things equal, that is correct.

DR. HILL:  Yes, and that would be through the -- through the first four years and then Enbridge has said if they would want to, you know -- that they would approach the Board after four years if they wanted to amend their target levels.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, given your objectives relating to decarbonization, and given your acknowledgement of the supporting role that RNG could play, still assuming that hypothetical where the Board is rejecting your redirection of funds to other purposes.  Would that alter your recommendation of a one percent target and would it alter it as part of an intention to produce greater GHG reductions?

MR. NEME:  Well, let me say it this way:  I think the point Dr. Hill just made is really important, that RNG consumption or  burning RNG instead of burning fossil gas reduces emissions but it only does it for one year.  So, a reduction in the procurement of RNG for -- through the next four years would certainly reduce emission over those next four years, if additional investment was not made in other less expensive greenhouse gas emission reduction strategies.  But in year 5 that decision could be modified or reversed, as could decisions on other investment options for reducing emissions such as DSM and electrification.  So, I would be cautious about endorsing a pretty high level of RNG procurement at a very high cost and then potentially locking some of that in for 20 to 25 years, or 20 years let's say for the longer term contracts, when it could, as Dr. Hill suggested earlier, have adverse effects not just on the commission -- not just on the Board's decision with respect to DSM next year, but even 5 years from now.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Caution noted and I will let you off the hook.  This is meant to be my last question, but let me ask it again because I didn't hear a yes or a no.  Caution noted, does that mean that you would continue to recommend one percent, knowing that those funds will not be collected and redistributed to other GHG reducing initiatives?

DR. HILL:  Let us just confer for a second, if you would.  Thank you for being persistent in your question.  Yes, we think that would be fine.

MR. NEME:  Just stick to the one percent.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Daube.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We have no questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  My apologies, Mr. Rubenstein.  I skipped over you by mistake.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is all right.  I have no questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I am just wondering if we should just take the afternoon break now.

MR. STEVENS:  I am entirely in your hands.  If you like I can spend -- I have split my questions.  My focus will first be on RNG and then on Mr. Neme's presentation.  I can hold myself to 15 minutes on RNG if that breaks up our afternoon better, but I am in your hands.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I think we are okay.  We were scheduled to break at 2:00 anyway.  And it looks like we are completely on track here to finish by about 4:00.  So, let's take a break for 15.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Come back at 2:30.
--- Recess taken at 2:13 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:32 p.m.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Stevens.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Dr. Hill, Mr. Neme.  Nice to see you.

MR. NEME:  Nice to see you, too.

MR. STEVENS:  I am David Stevens. I have some questions on behalf of Enbridge.  My first question, set of questions, will be about RNG, and then I have some questions about Mr. Neme's presentation and the Phase I report.  So to begin with, I shared a compendium a little while ago for the examination on the LCBP RNG issue.  Perhaps we could mark that as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K3.3.
EXHIBIT K3.3:  EGI CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I don't expect to use very much of this compendium for the 15 minutes or so I am planning to talk about RNG, but I have put it together, so let's make it an exhibit.

So, if we could start please, Angela, by turning to tab 2, page 20 of the compendium?  Thank you.  Actually, perhaps the cleaner place would be page 20 of the report, which is page 26 of the compendium.  And if we scroll down to the bottom we see, "Recommendation."  And this will be my focus of some questions.

So just to start with, I note that your report, gentlemen, doesn't speak about the voluntary participation part of the Enbridge Gas proposal.  But I assume you are aware of that part of the proposal.  Fair?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And I assume you agree that part of the proposal has the potential to increase RNG content within the overall gas supplies in Ontario, without adding ratepayer cost?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And would I be right in assuming that you would look at that as a good thing?

DR. HILL:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Great.  So one of your recommendations, and I am looking at No. 2, is you recommend I think I heard you say, a heavy preference or a heavy prioritization of locally produced RNG.  Do I have that right?

DR. HILL:  A preference, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Are you aware of the RNG procurement programs in Québec and in British Columbia?

DR. HILL:  Yes, somewhat.

MR. STEVENS:  And fair to say that in those jurisdictions there is no requirement or expectation of local supply?

DR. HILL:  That is correct.  I don't know if they have any preferential treatment, but they do procure gas from the entire North American market.

MR. STEVENS:  And we indicated in our argument in chief in Phase I at paragraph 34, and I will just ask you to take this subject to check, that each of those utilities were procuring something in the order of 75 percent of their RNG outside the jurisdiction.

Does that sound like a fair representation to you?

DR. HILL:  Sure.  Subject to checking that, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Great, thanks.  So assuming that Enbridge is going to ascribe or put a priority on local supply, how do you look at that happening in practice in terms of evaluating multiple bids and ascribing some sort of financial value to the supply?

DR. HILL:  I think one of the ways it could be done would be somewhat similar to what you are proposing for the Indigenous communities.  There can be qualitative as well as quantitative aspects to a procurement process, and there could be -- let's say you have, you know, in one example would be you have two proposals, and the price is even on the two, and the qualifications and the experience of the providers is sufficient in most cases, and one is local and one is not, you might give a preference to the local provider.

Another would be to be more formally quantitative about it, as the example that the Indigenous procurement presented earlier was an example of that.

MR. NEME:  The other thing I would add is that we think it is important, if we are talking about RNG being an alternative to fossil gas, that you pay for the transportation, a pathway for the RNG wherever it is being procured from, and, you know, all else being equal, that will cost more for the resources that are farther away than it would for resources that are closer to home.

DR. HILL:  And strictly a booking claim kind of RNG injected into the system anywhere can be claimed somewhere else, without the transportation path, would not provide a preference or a favouring for local resources.  So that is another -- as Mr. Neme is pointing out, that is another important way to consider the -- provide a preference for local resources.  And we think that would be beneficial.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And fair to say that neither Quebec nor British Columbia use sort of a booking claim system, or you might think of it as sort of exchange transactions?

DR. HILL:  My understanding is that they do use those.

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry, you are entirely right.  I stated it incorrectly.  That is within scope, in those?

DR. HILL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

You also recommend that only newly developed RNG.  Again, is this a preference or a requirement?

DR. HILL:  I think it is a preference.  I think it might have been correct or may have overstated, but a preference, I think.  Again, there was a little bit of discussion about this earlier, thinking, well, if that is displaced from someone who is buying RNG, would they still go back, would they still be procuring RNG?  That is probably a fairly safe assumption.

MR. STEVENS:  To your knowledge, is that a stipulation in RNG procurement programs in other jurisdictions?

DR. HILL:  I am not aware of any.  Again, it could be a preference, or it could be -- again, it could also be part of a qualitative or preference for new projects could be qualitative as well as quantitative.  All other things being equal, you would prefer a new project development.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I want to talk about your proposal for a price cap.  We have talked about with other witnesses where the $28.58 per GJ comes from, so I am not going to retread that.  But I just want to understand it a little bit.

Just for starters, are you suggesting that this is a cap for each purchase, or a cap for sort of the weighted average cost?

DR. HILL:  I think because the -- on a per energy or volumetric unit, the types of projects that have the higher benefit in terms of emissions reductions, the agricultural manure projects tend to have a higher price.  My recommendation would be that it is an average, the price cap would be for an average.  And my understanding is that is the way it was presented in the proposal, but that the
-- so that would allow procurement of the higher cost agricultural manure, which has a lower cost per unit of emissions reduction in comparison to the other sources.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And just to confirm, the $28.58, that is suggested as an incremental cost, not the all-in cost of RNG, but rather the cost that RNG is above the cost of conventional natural gas plus any applicable federal carbon charge?

DR. HILL:  The $28.58 is, yes, from the discussion yesterday.  And yes, it is the incremental cost above commodity and federal charge.

MR. STEVENS:  And the $28.58 does not have any relationship to sort of a current market price or a current contract price for RNG, does it?

DR. HILL:  My understanding is that that was the number that was backed out by Enbridge to represent, based on the customers' interest or willingness to pay in terms of the rate impacts.  So that is backed out from -- that level is then represented by the procuring at that cost would reach the willingness-to-pay thresholds that were identified by Enbridge.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  That is the willingness to pay and get to the full threshold.  Right?

DR. HILL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  To your knowledge, fair to say that $28.58 is actually below what one might expect to be the current incremental cost of RNG?

DR. HILL:  The $25.58, it depends on the source for the RNG, and it depends on the market and also, as we just mentioned, whether, say, transportation costs associated with it are in place, and one of the reasons -- and I think that that may be a challenge, to have a portfolio that would be within that, within those price limits, but it is one of the -- we also think that it ends up potentially representing a rather significant investment.

So it is important to stick with the identified rate impact and hopefully, through a competitive procurement, there will be resources that are available at that price, but it may be challenge.

MR. STEVENS:  But, under your approach, if resources are not available at that cost, then no [audio dropout] should be purchased?

DR. HILL:  I think that that was Enbridge's approach, as well.  My understanding was that there were kind of two threshold triggers.  If we couldn't -- that they would procure less if the resource was not available at a cost that stayed within that cap.

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  Enbridge would procure less, but I am asking you whether you are suggesting it should procure zero [audio dropout]  In other words, this is a go/no-go number?

DR. HILL:  Sure.  Let us confer just for a second.  Our recommendation would be that the procurement would be designed to acquire resources that have the weighted-average cost less than that cap and, if there was no resource available below that cap and it cost less than that, then the procurement would be zero.

But, assuming that there would be ways to structure a procurement that there would be some level of procurement available below that cost, we would support that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Are you aware that there is a similar cap in British Columbia, but it is somewhere in the order of $34 or $35?

DR. HILL:  I was not aware of that, but I would accept that.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

DR. HILL:  It makes sense as kind of a cost -- I think it is an important element for looking to cost containment.

MR. STEVENS:  One final question, recognizing I promised only 15 minutes on this topic, I want to talk about price in carbon intensity.  You have indicated that Enbridge should be aiming to minimize the carbon intensity of the RNG that is acquired.  I am just curious as to:  How does that work into your price cap proposal?

MR. ELSON:  Can I just ask that the response to CBA-3 be put up on the screen?  It might be helpful for this response.  Sorry, I am looking at M1-CBA-3 and just the response there.  I think it addresses the issue, but I will leave it to the witnesses.

MR. STEVENS:  That is helpful, Mr. Elson.  Perhaps I will just take that away and spend our time now, mindful of me standing between us and [audio dropout]  Thanks very much, Dr. Hill.  The rest of my questions are about Mr. Neme's presentation and about the Phase I evidence and the related items.  And, for this, I am going to be referring to the compendium that I also used on day 1, which is marked as K1.4.  Thank you.

So we talked about this a little bit way back in July of 2023, Mr. Neme, but I just want to confirm that, within your Phase I evidence, you don't point anywhere to Ontario government energy policy, do you?

MR. NEME:  I thought I did.  I would have to go back and double check.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  If it turns out you did, then please let me know.  But I did a word search, and I think you did confirm this in transcript 6, transcript page 14 of the Phase I.  I just want to ground ourselves right now.  But, if it turns out that you misspoke then, then please let us know after you have had a chance to look.

MR. NEME:  I will double check.

MR. STEVENS:  For what it is worth, I don't see any reference to Ontario government policy in your Phase II report, either, which discusses energy transition issues.  Did I miss anything there?

MR. NEME:  Again, I don't know if we didn't refer at all to any Ontario policy; I don't think it was a principal focus of the report.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Again, I didn't see it anywhere.  I might have missed it, and counsel will [audio dropout]


MR. NEME:  I will check.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So, a main theme of your testimony, as I take it, is that electrification is cheaper for new customers than gas connection and this should be incurred.  Is that a fair encapsulation of one of your themes?

MR. NEME:  It is part of the theme, that electrification is less expensive for new construction or, for that matter, whenever you don't have to incur the cost of gas connection.  And there are attendant risks of new capital investment that are recovered over many decades, associated with the potential for underutilized or stranded assets.  And that can include the potential for the need to recover the costs of new connections that are spread over long periods of time, with those customers potentially exiting the system before they have paid off, so to speak, the cost of the connection.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Do you have any reason to disagree with Enbridge's evidence that there continues to be substantial demand for new gas connections?

MR. NEME:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  You have seen the commentary from the Ontario government about being able to encourage any sort of connections to speed along and manage the cost of new housing.  Right?

MR. NEME:  I am familiar with the government's statement on that front, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  So, you have said in your presentation that there are going to be major declines in gas peak and annual demand or that that is likely.  Do I have that right?

MR. NEME:  If the province proceeds on a path to full decarbonization over the next 25 years, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  You didn't include that second prospect.  You just said it is -- as I read your presentation, and as I heard your words this morning, you simply said as a fact it is likely there will be major decline in gas peak and annual gas demand?

MR. NEME:  I think I said, and if I didn't the intent was to say, in the context of efforts to decarbonize the gas system.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And fair to say that should that happen then the demand that is currently served by gas would be served by electricity?

MR. NEME:  A portion -- a significant portion of it, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  So, I would like to bring your attention to a relatively new publication from the IESO dating to October of this year and that is at tab 17 of my compendium.  And what I have included is a news release and then a presentation from the Independent Electricity System Operator.  And it is documentation about the 2025 demand forecast that is going to inform the IESO's annual planning outlook.  Have you had a chance to look at these documents that are at tab 17?

MR. NEME:  I have, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Great.  So, my suggestion to you -- and I am going to go through some questions, but I don't want to hide where I am going.  My suggestion to you is that, based on this document, the IESO is not forecasting large scale electrification of heating in Ontario in the coming years.  And I am not asking you to agree or disagree with that just yet; I just want to put that out there as a proposition so that everybody can follow along with where I am going.

Okay.  Would you agree, first of all, that the IESO's forecast can be expected to reflect its understanding of Ontario government policy?

MR. NEME:  I don't know enough about the underpinning of what the IESO analyzed when it developed this forecast.  I know that the IESO has also in the not too distant past developed a forecast of what loads would look like in a decarbonized future.  And they are obviously very different than what is in this forecast.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  But I will suggest to you this is the forecast that the IESO was using when it was doing its future demand planning and its procurement planning; fair?

MR. NEME:  I don't know exactly what the IESO is using in its demand planning.  I will say that, at least in my experience, when electric system operators or electric utilities are doing forecasts to make determination of what type of resources need to be added to their system they tend to be more focused on the relatively near term while, you know, taking into consideration where they think the long term picture is going.  But those things are often, kind of, revisited with some frequency.

MR. STEVENS:  Very fair.  I mean, this is an annual process by IESO and I am sure the further out it gets the less certain it is.  I agree with you on that.  So, you will see the headline here is that IESO is forecasting electricity demand to grow by 75 percent by 2050.  I think you would agree that is going to require huge system investment; right?

MR. NEME:  Yes, and that is not uncommon in my experience with North American electric utilities.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair enough.  So, if we could scroll down a little bit please, Ms. Monforton, and on to the next page, in fact.  And down to -- there is a section that starts with a subheading "quick facts." And it goes to the bottom of the page.  If we could just make this a little smaller so we can just see the balance of the page, perfect.

So, in this section, Mr. Neme, the IESO provides some of the, what it calls, quick facts that underlie its forecast out to 2050.  And it suggests that the top three drivers of demand growth between now and 2050 are industrial demand, electric vehicle adoption and data centres.  It says that industrial demand will account for around 30 percent of new demand, electric vehicle adoption 31 percent of new demand, and data centres 13 percent of new demand.  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. NEME:  That looks like what is on the page.

MR. STEVENS:  And by contrast it says that Ontario's households, including new homes, are only forecast to account for 9 percent of the new.  Do you see that?

MR. NEME:  I do.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And so, I take it from this that demand from household uses is not even in the top 3 of the drivers over the next -- do some quick math -- 26 years.  Rather it is other things that are driving this 75 percent increase for the most part; fair?

MR. NEME:  Yes, hat is fair.  Again, as I said before thought, these types of forecasts, at least in my experience with utilities or utility system operators, are based on what they know is going to happen and/or have reasonable expectation to happen given laws that are on the books and other market factors.  If you were to tell the IESO that there is a new law coming that is going to require operationalizing decarbonization goals I would imagine you would get a very different forecast, but the utilities tend not to do that until it is 100 percent certain that it is coming.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Stevens, I am sorry to interrupt you.  But I would just be asking this on redirect anyways.  These documents is talking about 2035; right?  Those numbers.  Not 2050?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry, I misstated.  That was not intentional at all.  Thank you for correcting me.  The 75 percent growth was by 2050.  You are quite right.  The demand growth we are talking about here is in the nearer term.  Thank you.

DR. HILL:  If I may just offer there may be scenarios that we would be looking at, I am not sure in this study, they may have a scenario that would have more of an electrification decarbonization in the residential sector scenario that would  typically represent higher numbers.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I think you will have an opportunity to speak about that in just a moment, Dr. Hill.  Because behind the press release I also included a presentation that the IESO made that has details about its demand forecast.  And if we could please turn to page -- it's page 20 of the presentation which is page 223 of the PDF.  Thank you.  So, this provides some more slightly more granular detail about the residential sector forecast.  And what I would say it shows, and please correct me if you have a different view, is that in its planning case the IESO does not seem to be forecasting large-scale increase in annual energy demand associated with the residential sector; fair?

MR. NEME:  Yes, again, based on laws that they probably see on the books today that would be their best estimate of what would happen, and then the much higher demand that is shown in the light blue colour is associated with the decarbonization pathway analysis that they did a couple years ago.

MR. STEVENS:  And stated a different way, under the IESO's planning scenario there must be an assumption that gas heating is continuing for most residential requirements; right?

MR. NEME:  For the purpose of this one-year forecast, that would be my presumption.

MR. STEVENS:  To be fair it is a forecast going out to 2050, but I take your point it is from a point in time right now.

MR. NEME:  Yes, as you noted they update this every year  based on new information from the market and from policy makers.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  And you will see right now they are forecasting 373,000 incremental heat pumps; right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And that certainly is not anything near enough to electrify heating in the province; is it?

MR. NEME:  No.  A little less than 10 percent, maybe.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  I would like to move on to a slightly different discussion.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Stevens, could I just ask a question, not of the witnesses, but of you?  And I apologize, I am interrupting a second time here.  But, you know, not knowing where these questions were going to go, it just seems to me that the witnesses haven't had the opportunity to look at the document itself, which is the annual planning outlook, unless Mr. Neme can correct me.

And I am just wondering if you would object to these witnesses taking away by way of an undertaking to review the actual annual planning outlook and, by way of undertaking, advise whether that, you know, impacts any of the answers to your questions?

MR. STEVENS:  My concern is that the whole notion of cross-examination is not intended at letting people give their first answer and then go away and think about it and study and provide -- it is not a take-home exam.  I mean, if it turns out that there is something within this study that contradicts the propositions that I am putting forward, then you can correct me at that point, and I am sure everybody will take that under consideration.

But I don't think it is appropriate to provide a broader opportunity than that.

MR. ELSON:  I think what you have said is sufficient, Mr. Stevens, if I am understanding you correctly.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And, Mr. Stevens, if I could just add, I mean, I think there is an element of fairness to the witness, if your cross-examination is based on a press release and one diagram.  I think, you know --


MR. STEVENS:  It is one thing to correct some of these.  It is another thing to take -- as I say, take it away and make it an appendix to your report.  I don't think that is appropriate, and I don't think that is the proper approach that should be taken in an OEB proceeding.  For one thing, maybe [audio dropout].  But I think it sounds like we are largely ad idem on it.

So, within your presentation this morning, if we could please pull that up, Ms. Monforton?  I am interested in slide 7.  Thank you.

Now, within here -- I am in the third main bullet point and the second sub-bullet point, there is discussion about how EFG has compared the cost of heat pumps using expensive clean electricity and the cost of a furnace burning RNG.  To me, that was new.  I mean, within your Phase I report, you didn't include this comparison, did you?

MR. NEME:  I did.

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry.  If you did, can you just point me to what page it was?

MR. NEME:  Sure.  Give me just a second.  Can you pull up page 25 of my Phase I report?  Sorry, table 4.  Maybe I am looking at -- I have the wrong page number.  This is of the -- I am talking about the Phase I report.  You are looking at page -- you have on the screen page 25 of the report for this, Phase II.

MR. STEVENS:  It will be page 161 of my brief, Angela.

Okay, I see it now.  I hadn't remembered that, Mr. Neme, so thank you for [audio dropout].  That is a vision [audio dropout].  I don't need to go through it.  It just struck me as new; I hadn't remembered this table, so thank you for pointing me to it.

One of the propositions, general propositions that I think I have heard you say is that all new houses will need to be corrected to electricity, whereas not all new houses will need to be connected to gas.  Right?

MR. NEME:  I don't think I said that in my presentation this morning, but --


MR. STEVENS:  Within your report.

MR. NEME:  Within my report from -- on Phase I?  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And I think that, if I have it right, one of your general propositions is that that means that the cost of the gas connection is -- I am sure I am going to get my economic terms right, it has been a long time since I took economics -- but let's just call a dead-weight loss, something that could be avoided.

Is that a fair characterization of your position?

MR. NEME:  Yes, but not just of the gas connection itself.  Also, for all of the gas piping and everything else that needs to be put into a new home to enable the burning of gas for water heating and space heating and the like, as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. NEME:  So both on the utility side of the meter, the gas connection, and then on the customer side of the meter, all of the infrastructure that is associated with moving gas to different parts of the house.

MR. STEVENS:  As I was preparing, I came across an [audio dropout] was an interesting part.  It is found at tab 18 of my compendium.  It is called, "Report back to the minister on system expansion for housing developments."  And I simply wanted to take you to one point of discussion in there, and see if you had any comments about it.

As part of this process, it would appear that the OEB asked PricewaterhouseCoopers to undertake a study of unit cost for connection of new customers.  And the report of PwC is summarized within the OEB's report, and it can be found starting at -- page 288 I guess is the best starting point of the PDF.  And if we could turn to page 292, this is the executive summary that PwC put together.  And if we go down to "Key observations", and perhaps make it a bit bigger in the first paragraph.

What PwC seems to have determined is that it is more expensive to complete the electric connection for a house that is to be entirely electric heated versus one that is to use electricity for other purposes, and gas for heat.

Do you see that?

MR. NEME:  I do.  The report, also in the more detailed discussion later on, says, first, a caution that there is relatively limited data.  So I think something like two thirds of the LDCs that they reached out to get information did not have data that were usable.  And then they also said that the data that they did get suggests that those LDCs that have more experience with electrification appear to experience smaller incremental cost, suggesting that there is kind of a learning curve and some economies of scale that would reduce the magnitude of the delta that you are showing here in the executive summary.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Fair enough.

But you will agree their headline statement is that there is something in the order of a $4,700 per lot difference to connect for the electricity connection for a gas-heated house versus an electric-heated house.  Right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  That is the average that they -- the average difference that they found for the information they could get, yes, again, recognizing that for jurisdictions that had more experience with electrification, the numbers were smaller.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  And that $4,700 I will suggest to you it is not out of line with the cost of a gas connection.  Is that fair, from your observation of Enbridge's evidence?

MR. NEME:  That is my understanding, that there were -- there was a comparable.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thanks.  Okay.

I would like to move on to something slightly different.  And for this, could we please, Angela, turn up tab 15, page 159.  This is your Phase I report,  Mr. Neme, page 23 of that report, so 159 of the -- thank you.

So what I understand table 2 on this page to be showing us, Mr. Neme, is your comparison of the change in energy bills.  And I am not sure if this is energy bills or energy costs for a Toronto home that uses either gas for heating and water heating or electricity for water and gas heating.  Do I have that right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And does this show the equipment cost as well as the annual bill cost?

MR. NEME:  No.  I believe Table 3 further down below includes the equipment costs.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Could we just scroll down to that?  Thank you.  And, on this table, is it fair to say that the comparison calculations generally look at the acquisition and the operating costs for a gas heating system, including water heating, versus a electrification with heat pump equipment?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And that it shows that, in general, there is something in the order of $2,000 savings over 18 years on a net present -- I am sorry.  Can we scroll down?  I guess we need to be able to see the [audio dropout]  No, I am sorry.  Scroll up.  It is Table 3.  I apologize, Angela.

The comparison is without electrification, which is gas.  Is that right?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And with electrification, which is full electric heating and water heating, so cold-climate heat pump plus a heat-pump water heater?

MR. NEME:  I believe that is correct, that it is both.

MR. STEVENS:  It is showing that, in 2023, there would be a $16,000 difference or even a $17,000 difference between the two scenarios?

MR. NEME:  That is correct, $17,000 lower cost for the all-electric option.

MR. STEVENS:  And fair to say your analysis assumes that a cold-climate heat pump will always be sufficient on its own for the heating needs of the house?

MR. NEME:  No, I assume that some modest amount of electric-resistance backup will be required in a climate like Toronto's.

MR. STEVENS:  So is that part of the equipment cost for the electrification option?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. NEME:  Yes, the addition of electric-resistance heating elements to a heat pump is a pretty small cost.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So, if we could turn to page 50 of your report, which is page --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Stevens, I am going to have to buy you a drink for having interrupted you so many times, but, on page 159 -- it might have been a while since Mr. Neme looked at this -- I believe there is reference to heating, water heating, cooking, and drying.  I don't know if that matters, but I just did not want something incorrect on the record and to avoid coming back to this on redirect.  There is reference to other equipment.  It may be irrelevant.  I apologize.  Keep going.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So, if we could, turn to page 186, please.  This is page 50 of the report.

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  If I understand right, Mr. Neme, these are inputs that you used in the development of Table 3 we were just looking at?

MR. NEME:  That is correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Okay.  So I would like to go through a few of these.  First of all, you assume a gas cost of $0.221 or 22.1 cents per cubic metre.  Is that right?

MR. NEME:  As the starting point, yes.  I did do a sensitivity analysis using ICF's forecast of gas prices that it provided to Enbridge at the time, as an alternative, and that did show gas prices declining fairly substantially for the first five of six years, before kind of levelling off and starting to climb back up again.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, but Table 3 uses a straight cost of 22.1 cents per cubic metre.  Right?

MR. NEME:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Would you agree with me, subject to check, that the current gas-supply cost for Enbridge Gas Inc. is around 7.7 cents a cubic metre?

MR. NEME:  That is my understanding.

MR. STEVENS:  So that is around one-third of the price you used.  Right?

MR. NEME:  For the commodity portion, and, again, that is just for one year.  That 7.7 cents is the lowest number, as far as I could tell, since, well, at least the last 15-plus years.  So I just would caution about picking any one number, especially at an extreme end like that, and assuming that that is what it is going to be forever.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, but you picked 22.2 and use that all the way through.  Right?

MR. NEME:  I did, but, again, I also used a forecast.  I also did the sensitivity analysis with the forecast that looked at how those prices are likely to change down and then levelling off over time, as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Your calculation includes the federal carbon charge for every year?

MR. NEME:  It does.

MR. STEVENS:  And can you remind me what the range is for that?

MR. NEME:  Well, as you can see on the screen, it started at about a little less than 13 cents a cubic metre in 2023 and goes up to about a little less than 29 cents in 2030.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And fair to say that is something that could change in the future, that the existence of the federal carbon charge could, depending on political developments, disappear?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  It could, and I have actually looked at this analysis without the carbon tax, and it still showed the -- obviously less so -- it still showed the electrification scenario as being less expensive.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Okay.  So you have taken the equipment costs for gas and electric appliances into account.  Right?

MR. NEME:  I have, net of rebates that were available at the time that the analysis was conducted.

MR. STEVENS:  And you indicate that the cost of an air-source heat pump is around $4,600?

MR. NEME:  Again, net of the rebate costs that were available.  I would have to look back at the analysis to tell you what the estimated full cost was.  It was substantially more than that, from which the available rebates were subtracted.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair to say the rebate might have been as much as $5,000 under the program?

MR. NEME:  It might have even been a little more than that.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, and that is not --


MR. NEME:  I am sorry.

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry to interrupt.

MR. NEME:  Between the federal program and the Enbridge program.

MR. STEVENS:  I am just focusing on the greener homes program because I know that is something -- like, I know, subject to your correcting me, that that's not available at this time.  Correct?

MR. NEME:  That is my understanding.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  And you indicate that the cost of the heat-pump water heater is around $1,100?

MR. NEME:  Yes, again net of the rebate that was available at the time.  Obviously, the full cost of the heat-pump water heater is more than that.

MR. STEVENS:  And again, a part, at least a big part, of that rebate would have been from the greener homes program?

MR. NEME:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And that is not available anymore?

MR. NEME:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  You haven't included any costs for electric panel upgrades, have you?

MR. NEME:  I do not believe I include a cost for electric panel upgrades, no.

MR. STEVENS:  So I calculate the total cost you use for electrification of heating and cooling, including water heating, to be $5,700.  Fair?

MR. NEME:  Of the equipment?  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  I assume you are familiar with the Ontario Clean Air Alliance?

MR. NEME:  I am.

MR. STEVENS:  And I assume you would agree that, at least from your perspective, they are a credible organization?

MR. NEME:  I don't know them intimately, so I can't comment in any detail on that.

MR. STEVENS:  I assume you are familiar with Jack Gibbons and Kai Millyard?

MR. NEME:  I am.

MR. STEVENS:  And they are both directors of that organization.  I will just ask you to take that subject to check.

MR. NEME:  Subject to check, sure.

MR. STEVENS:  And I believe you would -- would you agree that that would help you agree that this must be a credible organization?

MR. NEME:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So Ontario Clean Air Alliance has a page on their website that allows somebody to check into what are the savings from using a heat pump instead of gas heating.  So, if we turn to page 333 of the compendium and if we can scroll down to the calculator part of it and make it bigger -- that is perfect.  Thank you.

So what I did was I went to their website.  I believe it was over the weekend, very recently.  I assumed that a person would have 2200 cubic metres of gas usage currently, and I just asked the calculator to tell me:  Well, what are the results for each of the options they give, either a gas furnace and air conditioner or a heat pump for water and space heating?  And the first thing that I noticed was that they have a very different expectation of the capital costs of an air source heat pump and a water -- a heat pump water heater than you do.  I calculate them having a capital cost of approximately $21,500 and then they have an extra $2,000 for electric panel upgrades.  You would agree with me that is substantially different than the amount that you have used in your forecast; right?

MR. NEME:  I would say a couple things about it.  One, yes it is more than was -- than the numbers that you just referenced in my report that I used in the analysis.  However, again, the numbers I used in my analysis were net of rebates that were available at the time, and I am presuming that this does not subtract anything from the equipment cost for rebates.

The second thing I would say is that in particular their estimated cost for an air source heat pump of $16,500 is quite high to me.  It is actually higher, substantially higher, than estimates that Enbridge itself has used and, in fact, the estimate that I used for the actual cost for a air source heat pump a year ago was the identical assumption that Guidehouse, Enbridge's consultant used in its analysis of the decarbonization pathway scenario, so that number looks very large.

I think the third thing I observe about this table is that they actually show the energy bills as being substantially lower under the electrification scenario, if you look at the furnace operating cost of 19.6 compared to the heat pump space heating of 13,200.

So, that is more consistent with the results that I came up with.  It just looks to me like the air source heat pump cost is abnormally high relative to other citations that I have seen and used.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  So, you will agree with me though that the Ontario Clean Air Alliance on its own website appears to be telling interested people that, at least from a cost perspective, it is less expensive to go with a gas furnace and air conditioner for space and water heating than a heat pump; right?

MR. NEME:  Marginally.  There is not a huge gap between 39,300 and 41,100.  And, again, as I said this morning, this is also just about what does it look like today, as opposed to in a decarbonized future and not accounting for any potential discounts that might be available for equipment now or in the future.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  But that is very different from the 16,000 difference the other direction; right?

MR. NEME:  Well, if you are asking me whether $1,800 is different than $16,000 the obvious answer is yes.  But, again, all of the caveats I just offered are applicable.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, I wonder if I -- I am just looking at this in terms of what use we can make of it.  I am looking at the lines that deal with operating cost as part of that.  Is there any indication as to what term the operating cost is calculated over?  Is it 10 years?  Is it 20 years?

MR. STEVENS:  If we could please scroll up, Angela.  There some narrative at the beginning, Commissioner Moran, and it seems to talk about a 15 year term.  The phrasing says:
"The calculator will show you the projected costs over 15 years, the minimum life span for most heating and cool equipment."

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, just to make sure that we are not comparing apples to oranges.  I am just wondering, Mr. Neme, what timeframe are you utilizing in your calculations?

MR. NEME:  I used 18 years, which was kind of a reasonable average of the typical life of a heat pump or furnace.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And for operating costs?

MR. NEME:  Yes, for -- yes.  For operating the capital costs are, obviously, kind of one time expenditures.  And then the 18-year period was the time horizon used for analyzing the operating costs and basically the energy costs.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And, again, just so that we know what we are comparing.  The calculation that you have put up, what are the assumptions relating to the actual energy costs that go into that operating cost compared to Mr. Neme's?  Or do you not have that information perhaps?

MR. STEVENS:  I looked at it briefly before.  I don't know it well enough and I didn't print it off to be able to recite it to you.  I believe that there is some information on the website that provides some details about that.  And I am not suggesting that this is gospel, or that this is a number that the OEB should rely upon.  I am simply putting this forward as a representation of the fact that when customers are making their choices right now they are not nearly so stark as Mr. Neme's report would have us expect.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, you led Mr. Neme through his report and asked him about his assumptions and then you have led him through this.  But, again, you are not asking us to compare these two -- his report to this outcome in any particular way then?

MR. STEVENS:  I am suggesting that the questions I asked before about the -- in his report, as well as this view from the Ontario Clean Air Alliance, as well as another one that I am about to go to in a moment, suggest that the question is not nearly so black and white as Mr. Neme would have you believe in terms of the very clear economics of electrification.  I mean, what is at issue in terms of this remaining question is what are current customers choosing and are they -- one of the things that is being suggested is that they are not making wise choices because somehow developers are making those choices.  And I am suggesting that the information -- we will be suggesting the information that is available would suggest to a consumer that there is no really clear economic choice here.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, you are suggesting that this is something that would be used by a consumer who hasn't bought a house yet to make a choice?

MR. STEVENS:  It could be -- if a consumer was given the choice at heating they might go with.  I believe that is why these calculators are out there.  I mean, I don't think they serve any other purpose, Commissioner Moran.  It could be for retrofit, of course, but it is for somebody who is faced with a decision, a purchase decision, of what to do for their next HVAC option.

MR. NEME:  Yes, again, with respect to new construction, I think the calculus is also a little bit different.  So, for one thing, in new construction you would not need a panel upgrade.  My understanding is every new home these days is built -- you know, it comes with a 200 amp panel.  So, if you scroll down a little bit on this page to the calculator answer, the conclusion at the bottom here that there is an $1,800 increase in cost, life cycle cost, for the heat pump.  That goes away when you take the $2,000 panel cost off the table, it is actually slightly in favour of the heat pump.

I think the other thing that is different in new construction is that you don't have to incur the costs even on the customer side of the meter of moving -- of putting in gas pipe to get from the gas meter, to the furnace, to the water heater, to the stove, et cetera.  That is a cost savings that doesn't show up here.  Again, probably this is not really set up to make -- to help customers make informed decisions about new construction.

The third thing I would say is that on the costs to a builder who is building 50 houses are not going to be anything close to these, well, I shouldn't say anything close.  They are going to be less for all of the equipment than these costs suggest.  They are buying in bulk.  They get economies of scale that individuals customers don't have.  So, even if you accepted that the $16,500 was an appropriate estimate of the cost of an air source heat pump, and, again, I think it is high, that number in its increment relative to the furnace and central air conditioner alternative will be almost certainly lower in a new construction context.  So, again, great caution about assigning -- assuming that the delta shown at the bottom here would be applicable under new construction context.  Even if you thought it was applicable as  a retrofit, which I don't.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that.  But fair to say the same economies of scale that would apply to buying the appliances on the right side of this table would also apply to buying the appliances on the left side of this table?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  But if you have the same percentage reduction across the board, the incremental cost gets reduced.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  So finally, I have one more document that I would like to refer to, and I provided this to your counsel yesterday.  It is from the Canadian Climate Institute and it is a three-page document.  And I was hoping, Angela, that you could bring it up.  It has a header titled, "Heat pump calculator.ca."

MR. MILLAR:  Should we mark this, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  If we could that, would be great.

MR. MILLAR:  K3.4.
EXHIBIT K3.4:  CANADIAN CLIMATE INSTITUTE DOCUMENT, THREE PAGES, TITLED "HEAT PUMP CALCULATOR.CA"

MR. STEVENS:  Now, I apologize.  The top of this, or part of the text here has been cut off versus what I printed, but I don't think -- as long as the next pages are okay, I don't think that will get in the way.

First of all, I assume you will agree, Mr. Neme, that the Canadian Climate Institute is credible from your perspective?

MR. NEME:  From what I know about them, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  So this is another heat pump comparison tool.  And what it allows one to do is to choose a city in Canada, and then choose a year of construction for a house.  And it provides an overall and/or an average annual cost for several options for heating and cooling of a house.

So if we look at the first page that is in front of us, which is page 2 of the PDF, what I did there was I asked the heat pump calculator to tell me what are the relative costs for a house built in Toronto in 1980, if it is going to be retrofit for a number of different options.

And as you can see, what it told me was that the cost for a cold-climate heat pump is actually the most expensive of the options.  And then, if we turn to the next page, for a house built in 2023, which is presumably a little bit more energy efficient, again, it appears that the average annual cost for a cold-climate heat pump is the most expensive option.

And I would suggest to you that what this tells us, yet again or for a second time, is that it is in no way clear that the use of a cold-climate heat pump is the most cost effective choice for a homeowner.

Is that a fair conclusion, from what I am seeing?

MR. NEME:  No, and I say no for a couple of reasons.  The first is you will note that on the right-hand side, the second-from-the-bottom choice that you have to make is is gas continued to be used for other purposes other than space heating, essentially; that is what the "with or without" means.

If you use the without button, so you get to save all of the gas, monthly kind of fixed charges, the answer changes.  And, in fact, all of the heat pump options the second, third and fourth, are all less expensive than the gas heating option in that case.

Secondly, and maybe more importantly, I did go to try to dig into what some of the assumptions underpinning this analysis were, and most of them are pretty reasonable.  As an aside, one of them was that the cost of a heat pump was about $13,000, not the $16,000 -- less than the $16,500 that you showed in the previous calculator.

But the one assumption that was problematic in the analysis is that they assume that electricity costs per kilowatt hour for Toronto are about 16 cents a kilowatt hour to start, and then grow over time.

Enbridge's own analysis in the table or the graphic in which it compares the cost of space heating to the cost of electric resistance heating and oil heating and so on, estimates that the average Toronto Hydro cost under its time-of-use rates is about 11.4 cents, so about 30 percent less.  And, to put it the other way around, this analysis assumes electric rates, electric prices per kilowatt hour for Toronto that are 50 percent higher than what they actually are.

I will note that Toronto Hydro also offers a rate, what they called the tired rate where, if you use a thousand kilowatts hours a month or less, you pay 9 cents; if you use a thousand or more, you pay 11 cents.  Again, that is consistent with what Enbridge has estimated the average time-of-use rate is for Toronto Hydro.

So if you take about 30 percent off of the electricity costs that are shown for the heat pumps in this table, and in the one that is above it for the 1980 home, the cold-climate heat pump clearly becomes much less expensive than the gas space heating option.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we are talking about assumptions here.  Did you also look and did you see that this assumes that there is $7,500 in rebates applied to the cold-climate heat pump.

MR. NEME:  That, I did not notice, although it -- well, actually, looking at the equipment -- well, it says "equipment after rebates."  I am not sure what rebate numbers they assumed.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I have it in front of  me.  So I will just ask you to take it, subject to check, that it includes $7,500 in rebates for the heat pumps.

MR. ELSON:  I am sorry, Mr. Stevens, I am going to object to the idea that we are taking that kind of information subject to check.  If we are going to do that, then I would want to have on the record what rebates are available in Ontario, right now.  There is a number of federal rebates, there is the Enbridge DSM program.

You know, we would want to be asking how does that factor into the OCAA analysis, because they don't include rebates.  So I don't think it is fair to ask Mr. Neme to accept what you have on your screen when, in fact, there is a series of rebates available depending on what fuel you have and depending on whether we are talking about the federal government rebates or the rebates available through the continuation of the DSM program.

MR. STEVENS:  I am reading from this page.  It says there is $5,000 of federal greener homes grant applied to this analysis, and we have already agreed that doesn't exist anymore.

I mean, Mr. Neme has had no difficulty telling me all the problems with it.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I am going to interject, if I may.  I am really having a problem with the cross-examination.  And, with respect, I think Commissioner Moran characterized it correctly; it is a bit of an apples and oranges, and perhaps would it be more efficient if we gave Mr. Neme an undertaking to update the analysis he provided in Phase I.  And I don't have the reference in front of me; I don't know if we want page 159.  Perhaps, Mr. Neme, you can help me?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And, Mr. Neme, perhaps with one clarification, that the table you have, is it a retrofit table or a new-construction table?

MR. NEME:  In the Phase I analysis that I performed?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Correct, yes.  The one that Mr. Stevens has been cross-examining you on.

MR. NEME:  Yes.  It was focused on retrofit of an existing home.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  It is interesting, Mr. Stevens, anecdotally.  I just went through this analysis myself, having installed a cold-climate, air-source heat pump.  And I don't mean to start leading evidence here, but some of the numbers in here look really suspect to me.  I remember what I paid.  And I did a retrofit.  I didn't incur a $2,000 retrofit to my panel.  I have 100-amp service.  I was replacing an air conditioner with a heat pump.

But anyways, can we go back to the table that I believe was table 3?  Sorry, apologies to the court reporter.  For the court reporter, I am not following the transcript while I speak.  There was the table that, Mr. Stevens, you took Mr. Neme through.  I don't remember the reference.

MR. STEVENS:  It is up on the screen now, Commissioner Zlahtic.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, I'm sorry.

MR. STEVENS:  It is from page 159 of my brief, page 23 of Mr. Neme's Phase I report.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  And then I believe, if we scroll down, there were the assumptions that Mr. Neme --


MR. STEVENS:  That is right.  That is at page 50 of Mr. Neme's report.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  So I guess the undertaking I am asking for from Mr. Neme is if he could update this analysis, using the model that he developed to develop these tables, to reflect -- for example, the greener homes program is over; that $5,000 rebate is done.  To the extent that any of the other input assumptions should be updated, that he refresh the analysis for what is currently in effect.  Is that pretty clear, what I am asking for?

MR. NEME:  Yes, an update to the analysis that led to these results that are on the screen today, reflecting any changes in assumptions that are appropriate; given changes in the market, whether that is on gas prices or on equipment rebates that are available today, relative to when the analysis was initially done.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay, thank you.  You have got it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J3.6.
UNDERTAKING J3.6:  ED/EFG TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE ANALYSIS THAT LED TO THE RESULTS SHOWN, REFLECTING ANY CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS THAT ARE APPROPRIATE; GIVEN CHANGES IN THE MARKET; WHETHER THAT IS ON GAS PRICES OR ON EQUIPMENT REBATES THAT ARE AVAILABLE TODAY, RELATIVE TO WHEN THE ANALYSIS WAS INITIALLY DONE

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Commissioner Sword, do you have questions?

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  I think I'm good.
Questions by the Board


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Commissioner Duff?  Commissioner Elsayed?

I have just one question, I think, just to follow up on the question about renewable natural gas.  If Enbridge procures a volume of renewable natural gas for the purpose of selling it to one of its customers in order for that customer to reduce its carbon footprint and the producer of that renewable gas has also used that volume to obtain a compliance credit under the clean fuels regulation or the renewable gas based credit under Ontario's output based pricing system, what is your view of that scenario?

MR. NEME:  To me, that would be problematic because, as you observed earlier, the only reason those other credit systems provide any value is the expectation that the investment is reducing emissions, and, if someone is buying one of those credits to kind of represent that they have reduced emissions and then Enbridge is simultaneously telling its customers, if they consume the exact RNG, that they are reducing emissions, between the two things there is a double counting of the emission reduction, conceptually.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  Dr. Hill, I have a question for you, following up on your commentary with respect to stimulating the market.  You were asked questions by various folks on that.

Again, Ontario's output-based pricing system, the system in its original form only allowed large industrial emitters to rely on a renewable natural gas based credit if they directly consumed the renewable natural gas.  Earlier this year, the province amended the regulation to allow for industrial emitters to utilize renewable natural gas that was injected into the gas system, provided that they actually purchased that natural gas.

What would you think is the impact on the market for renewable natural gas with that change?

DR. HILL:  I am not certain if there would be much of an impact.  If I am understanding your question correctly, the change was that it would need to be directly [audio dropout] on site versus just injected in the system.  Am I correct?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.  Previously, the emitters could not rely on renewable gas that they purchased from somewhere else, that ended up being injected into the gas system.  It had to be directly consumed by them; the actual molecules, they had to have in their possession.

They don't have to do that anymore.  Does that improve the market in any way, or does it disadvantage it?

DR. HILL:  I think with the -- as we discussed briefly before, I think with kind of the "book and claim" type of accounting, it would be important to consider the transportation costs so that (a) you are -- the process of doing that, the transportation costs will provide some preference for local resources and that also it is treating the renewable natural gas similarly to the fossil gas, which has transportation costs associated with it.

But I don't think, in terms of the emissions reductions, I agree that they should be counted just once.  And it is partially an accounting and claiming so that potentially in the market you are having double counting or double counting of -- you know, claiming of benefits.  And the accounting systems in the regulatory framework, the compliance mechanisms that are set up, should be and I think the intent is for them to be clear and allow for the single use of a credit, not to double count.

And that is important.  There may be issues where people at times can potentially double count or use -- there have been some issues in Vermont that have been contested related to the potential double counting of renewable energy credits.  I think that that is something to be aware of and to protect against, but I don't think in terms of, if the gas is injected versus combusted on site, as long as it is counted once, then the emissions reduction will be the same.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Dr. Hill.  Mr. Elson, do you have any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Just one question for Mr. Neme.  Mr. Neme, we had a long discussion about the cost effectiveness of a heat pump and other electrical equipment versus fossil methane gas equipment, including a furnace.  And my question is:  Which comparison is more important, electrical equipment versus fossil methane gas equipment or electrical equipment using clean energy and a furnace, for example, using RNG, when we are considering investments in long-lived gas infrastructure?

And can you explain your answer?  Obviously, we are looking for some detail there.

MR. NEME:  Sure.  So, in the context of investments in gas infrastructure, for example connections of new customers, where those investments are going to be recouped over many decades, I think what is more important is what are the relative economics in a decarbonizing future of a heat pump drawing electricity from a very clean grid versus a gas furnace burning the alternative, decarbonized alternative, of RNG.

That is the, that is the-- if again if we are, if Ontario is, going to decarbonize its economy, including the gas system, those are in a kind stark nutshell way the choices that will face the province 10, 20, 25 years from now.  And, because those are the choices that consumers would be facing in the future if we do go down the path of decarbonizing the economy in the province, that will ultimately drive decisions for some customers about, including customers who newly connect today or tomorrow, about whether they will stay on the gas system or not and, therefore, whether the subsidized costs of their gas connection, which will be spread out over 40 years or some long period of time, will be fully recovered from them or will have to be instead recovered from the smaller number of customers left on the system.

The question of whether heat pump is cheaper today is, you know, kind of a bonus in a way if one concludes as I have that it is.  The more important thing is what is the relative economics during the lifetime of the cost recovery of a gas system asset that is amortized over many decades.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Commissioner Zlahtic has a further request, I think.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Can you hear me now?  Is it working?  Okay, great.  Mr. Neme, sorry I am back at you on your undertaking.  A couple things.  In some respects I am concerned that perhaps I wasn't fair to Mr. Stevens, cutting him off.  And I think it would be helpful if, in updating that analysis, if you could do it for a retrofit and for a new build.  And to the extent that you can include some of your assumptions in terms of square footage because that will affect the size of equipment, to be fair.  We talked about updating your inputs and that stands.  And I think to the extent that Environmental Defence wants to use it in its submissions, and perhaps Enbridge may want to reply, I think it would be helpful if you could also, if possible, provide this in a live Excel spreadsheet form.  Because there may be a debate over equipment costs and some of the underlying assumptions.  I am just trying to be fair to both parties.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. NEME:  Sure.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And with that, I think it is a wrap unless you want to call some reply evidence at this point, Mr. Stevens.  You haven't given any occasion that you have any further reply evidence.

MR. STEVENS:  You mean the folks behind the door?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Exactly.

MR. STEVENS:  We just wanted to thank, Commissioner Moran, you and the Panel very much for running an efficient hearing and having all of this -- the evidentiary part of the case done before the new year.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And on behalf of the Panel let me thank all of the participants for helping us run it efficiently.  We are 15 minutes over our final timeframe, so that is amazing.

Thank you to Ms. Monforton for her usual excellent management of the exhibits, and to the court reporter.

And I guess we owe a decision on the proposal for argument, which we will work on, so we will be issuing a PO in response to that.  And I guess we owe Mr. Ladanyi a ruling on his objection to the expert witnesses and there are some undertakings that we will be waiting to see as well.

So, with that we are adjourned, and thank you very much to the witness panel for your assistance.  You are excused.  Thank you.

MR. NEME:  Thank you.

DR. HILL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Happy holidays.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:56 p.m.
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